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Convenience Translation of the Review Report Originally Issued in Turkish to English  
 
To the Board of Directors of Fibabanka Anonim Şirketi, 

Introduction 

We have reviewed the unconsolidated statement of financial position of Fibabanka A.Ş. (“the 
Bank”) as at 30 June 2021 and the related unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, 
unconsolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, unconsolidated 
statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, unconsolidated statement of cash flows for the 
six month period then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. The Bank management is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of this unconsolidated interim financial information in 
accordance with the “Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency (“BRSA”) Accounting and 
Reporting Legislation” which includes “Regulation on Accounting Applications for Banks and 
Safeguarding of Documents” published in the Official Gazette No. 26333 dated 1 November 
2006, and other regulations on accounting records of banks published by Banking Regulation 
and Supervision Agency and circulars and interpretations published by BRSA and the 
requirements of Turkish Accounting Standard 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” for the matters 
not regulated by the aforementioned regulations (together referred as “BRSA Accounting and 
Financial Reporting Legislation”). Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this 
unconsolidated interim financial information based on our review. 

Scope of Review 

We conducted our review in accordance with the Standard on Review Engagements (“SRE”) 
2410, “Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the 
Entity”. A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of 
persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other 
review procedures. A review of interim financial information is substantially less in scope than 
an audit conducted in accordance with Standards on Auditing and consequently does not 
enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that 
might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 
Basis for Qualified Conclusion  

The accompanying unconsolidated interim financial information as at 30 June 2021 includes a 
general reserve of total of TL 115.500 thousands of which TL 35.500 thousands was reversed 
within the current period and TL 151.000 thousands had been recognized as expense in prior 
periods; with a deferred tax asset amounting to TL 26.565 thousands of which TL 3.635 

thousands was reversed within the current period and TL 30.200 thousands had been 
recognized in prior periods; for the possible effects of the negative circumstances which may 
arise in the economy or market conditions which is not in line with the requirements of BRSA 
Accounting and Financial Reporting Legislation. 

Qualified Conclusion 

Based on our review, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified 
Conclusion paragraph, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying unconsolidated interim financial information does not present fairly, in all 
material respects, the unconsolidated financial position of Fibabanka A.Ş. as at 30 June 2021 
and its unconsolidated financial performance and unconsolidated cash flows for the six month 
period then ended in accordance with the BRSA Accounting and Financial Reporting Legislation 

Report on Other Regulatory Requirements Arising From Legislation 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
financial information provided in the interim activity report in Section VII of the 
accompanying unconsolidated interim financial information is not consistent, in all material 
respects, with the reviewed unconsolidated interim financial information and explanatory 
notes. 

KPMG Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik Anonim Şirketi 
 
 
 
 
 
Alper Güvenç, SMMM 
Partner 
 
12 August 2021 
İstanbul, Turkey 

 



 

 

 
 

THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORT OF                                               
FİBABANKA A.Ş.                                                                                                                 

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 

        Address            : Esentepe Mah. Büyükdere Caddesi No:     

129 Şişli 34394 İstanbul-Türkiye 

      Telephone        : (212) 381 82 82 

                                                                     Fax                  : (212) 258 37 78 

                                                                     Web Site          : www.fibabanka.com.tr 
                                                                     Contact E-Mail_: deniz.turunc@fibabanka.com.tr 

 
The unconsolidated financial report for the six months period prepared in accordance with the 
communiqué of Financial Statements and Related Disclosures and Footnotes to be Announced to Public 
by Banks as regulated by Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency, is comprised of the following 
sections:  

 
 GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE BANK 

 UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK 

 EXPLANATIONS ON THE CORRESPONDING ACCOUNTING POLICIES APPLIED IN THE RELATED PERIOD 

 INFORMATION ON FINANCIAL STRUCTURE AND RISK MANAGEMENT OF THE BANK 

 EXPLANATORY DISCLOSURES AND FOOTNOTES TO UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 REVIEW REPORT 

 INTERIM ACTIVITY REPORT 

 
The unconsolidated financial statements and the explanatory footnotes and disclosures, unless 
otherwise indicated, are prepared in thousands of Turkish Lira, in accordance with the Communiqué 
on Banks’ Accounting Practice and Maintaining Documents, Turkish Accounting Standards, Turkish 
Financial Reporting Standards, related communiqués and the Banks’ records, have been reviewed and 
presented as attached. 
 
 

 
 
 
Information related to personnel to whom questions related to this financial report may be directed: 
Name-Surname/Title : Ayşe Akdaş / Financial Control and Reporting Director  
Telephone Number : (212) 381 84 88 
Fax Number           : (212) 258 37 78 

  

http://www.fibabanka.com.tr/
mailto:deniz.turunc@fibabanka.com.tr
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SECTION ONE 
  
GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
I. History of the Bank Including Its Incorporation Date, Initial Status and Amendments to the Initial Status 

  

On 21 December 2001, Share Transfer Agreement was signed with Novabank S.A. for the sale of all shares of 

Sitebank A.Ş. under the control of SDIF and the sale transaction was approved by the decision of Banking 

Regulation and Supervision Agency (“BRSA”) No: 596 on 16 January 2002.  

In the General Assembly held on 4 March 2003, the name of Sitebank A.Ş. was amended as BankEuropa Bankası 

A.Ş.  

In the extraordinary General Assembly held on 28 November 2006, the name of Bank Europa Bankası A.Ş. was 

amended as Millennium Bank A.Ş.  

On 27 December 2010, acquisition of the Bank by Credit Europe Bank N.V., which is an affiliate of Fiba Holding 

A.Ş., was realized.  

In the extraordinary General Assembly held on 25 April 2011 the name of Millennium Bank A.Ş. was amended as 

Fibabanka A.Ş. (“the Bank”).  

II. Shareholder Structure, Shareholders Having Direct or Indirect, Joint or Individual Control Over the 

Management and Internal Audit of the Bank, Changes in Shareholder Structure During the Current Period,         

if any and Information on the Bank’s Risk Group  

 

On 10 February 2010, Banco Comercial Portugues S.A. and Credit Europe Bank N.V., which is an affiliate of Fiba 

Group, signed a share purchase agreement to transfer 95% of the Bank’s shares to Credit Europe Bank N.V. and 

the legal approval process was completed as of 27 December 2010.  

Credit Europe Bank N.V.’s share of capital increased from 95% to 97,6% after the capital increases during 2011 

and 2012. Fiba Holding A.Ş. became the ultimate parent of the Bank after acquiring 97,6% of the shares from 

Credit Europe Bank N.V. on 3 December 2012 and 2,4% of the shares from Banco Comercial Portugues S.A. on 7 

December 2012. There were sales of equity shares to the management of the Bank in 2013. As of 30 June 2021 

the total shares held by the Bank’s Management represent 0,54% of the Bank’s Capital. 

The Bank applied to the BRSA on 14 January 2015 for permission of the subordinated loan provided from Fiba 

Holding A.Ş. in the amount of USD 50 million to be converted to share capital.  Following the authorization of 

the BRSA on 4 March 2015, the Board of Directors decision was taken on 5 March 2015 regarding share capital 

increase from TL 550.000 to TL 678.860. TL 127.045 of the increase was provided by the subordinated loan 

granted by Fiba Holding A.Ş. which had been approved to be converted to capital and TL 1.815 of total capital 

was paid in cash by the other shareholders, capital increase was recognised in financial statements following the 

completion of the legal procedures on 7 May 2015. 

The Bank’s paid-in capital amounting to TL 678.860 was increased to TL 847.515 on 23 December 2015 with equal 

contributions from International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) and European Bank for Reconstruction and 

Development (“EBRD”) amounting TL 168.655 in total. In addition, share issuance  premium of TL 73.379 was 

recognised in the shareholders’ equity. 

The Bank’s paid-in capital amounting to TL 847.515 was increased to TL 941.161 on 7 September 2016 with the 

capital contribution of TurkFinance B.V. by TL 93.646. In addition, TL 55.299 was recorded to the equity as share 

premium.  

As of 30 June 2021, paid-in capital of the Bank is TL 941.161 and all paid in.  
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III. Explanations Regarding the Shares of the Bank Owned by and Areas of Responsibility of the Chairman and 
the Members of Board of Directors, Audit Committee Members, Chief Executive Officer, Executive Vice 
Presidents 

 

Name Surname Title Assignment Date  

Board of Directors      
Hüsnü Mustafa Özyeğin Chairman   27-Dec-10 

Fevzi Bozer  Deputy Chairman 27-Dec-10 

Mehmet Güleşci  Member 27-Dec-10 

İsmet Kaya Erdem  Member 11-Feb-13 

Memduh Aslan Akçay Member 13-Apr-16 

Hülya Kefeli  Member 15-May-17 

Faik Onur Umut Member 23-Jan-19 

Seyfettin Ata Köseoğlu Member 23-Jan-20 

Ömer Mert  General Manager – Member 18-Jan-17 

 

Audit Committee     

İsmet Kaya Erdem  Member 27-Dec-19 

Faik Onur Umut  Member 14-Jan-20 

 

Assistant General Managers (*) 

Elif Alsev Utku Özbey  Deputy GM - Financial Control & Reporting 07-Jan-11 

Sezin Erken AGM  Consumer Banking & Funding Resource Management 10-Aug-17 

Kerim Lokman Kuriş AGM  Corporate & Commercial Banking 01-Dec-15 

Turgay Hasdiker  AGM  Credits 01-Dec-15 

Ahu Dolu  AGM  Financial Institutions and Project Finance 01-Dec-15 

Gerçek Önal AGM  Chief Legal Officer 01-Feb-16 

İbrahim Toprak AGM  Treasury  01-Apr-20 

Serdar Yılmaz AGM– Information Technologies and Banking Operations 01-Sep-20 

Gökhan Ertürk AGM– Ecosystem & Platform Banking 11-May-21 

(*) Mr.Gökhan Ertürk has been assigned as Assistant General Manager in charge of Ecosystem and Platform Banking as of 11 May 
2021. 

 
The Bank’s equity shares owned by the individuals listed above are not material. 
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IV. Individuals and Institutions That Have Qualified Shares in the Bank 

Name Surname/ Commercial Title 

Share 
Amount 

(Nominal) Share Ratios 
Paid in Capital 

(Nominal) 
Unpaid 
Shares 

Fiba Holding A.Ş. 673.808 71,59% 673.808 -- 

Hüsnü Mustafa Özyeğin (*) 667.088 70,88% 667.088 -- 

(*) States indirect share of Hüsnü Mustafa Özyeğin in the Bank due to his direct share in Fiba Holding A.Ş. 

V. Summary Information on the Bank’s Services and Activity Areas  

The Bank was incorporated as a privately owned bank authorized for customer deposit acceptance and the Head 

Office of the Bank is located in Istanbul, Turkey. As of 30 June 2021, the Bank serves with 49 domestic branches 

and 1.728 employees.  

VI. Other Information 

The Bank’s Commercial Title                      :   Fibabanka Anonim Şirketi  

The Bank’s General Directorate Address      :   Esentepe Mah. Büyükdere Caddesi    

                                                           No:129 Şişli 34394 İstanbul   

The Bank’s Phone and Fax Numbers            :    Telephone  : (0212) 381 82 82  

                                      Fax            : (0212) 258 37 78  
The Bank’s Web Site Address                      :    www.fibabanka.com.tr  

The Bank’s E-Mail Address                          :    malikontrol@fibabanka.com.tr                    

  Reporting Period                                        :   1 January 2021 – 30 June 2021  

The financial statements, related disclosures and notes in this report are presented, unless otherwise indicated, 

in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL).  

 
VII. Current or Likely Actual or Legal Barriers to Immediate Transfer of Equity or Repayment of Debts Between 

Parent Bank and Its Subsidiaries 
                 

None. 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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SECTION THREE 
 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 
 

I. Explanations on the basis of presentation 
 

1. Preparation of the financial statements and the accompanying footnotes in accordance with Turkish Accounting 

Standards and the Communiqué on Principles and Procedures on the Accounting Practice and Documentation of 

Banks 
 

The Bank prepares its financial statements in accordance with the BRSA Accounting and Reporting Regulation which 

includes the regulation on “The Procedures and Principles Regarding Banks’ Accounting Practices and Maintaining 

Documents” published in the Official Gazette dated 1 November 2006 with No. 26333, and other regulations on 

accounting records of banks published by the Banking Regulation and Supervision Board (“BRSB”) and circulars and 

pronouncements published by the BRSA and Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) published by the Public 

Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (POA) for the matters not regulated by the aforementioned 

legislations.  
 

The financial statements are prepared in thousands of TL based on the historical cost, except for the financial assets 

and liabilities carried at fair value.  

2. Accounting policies and valuation principles applied in preparation of financial statements 

The accounting policies and valuation principles applied in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements 

are explained in Notes II and XXVIII below. 

3. Other 
 

The new coronavirus disease (COVID-19), which emerged in Wuhan Province of the People's Republic of China in late 
December 2019 and spread to other countries, was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization on 11 
March, 2020. In order to kept to a minimum the negative economic impact of the epidemic, both in Turkey has taken 
a number of measures worldwide. The effects of these developments on the Bank's financial status and operations are 
closely monitored by the relevant units and the Bank's Top Management. 

Covid-19 impact is explained in footnote XXVIII "Other Issues”. 

II. Explanations on the usage strategy of financial instruments and on foreign currency transactions 

1. Usage strategy of the financial instruments 
 

The major factor in managing interest rate and liquidity risk at the balance sheet is parallel movement of asset and 
liability side.  

Exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk are controlled and measured by various risk management 
systems, and the balance sheet is managed under the limits set by these systems and the limits legally required. Value 
at risk models are used for this purpose.  

Purchase-sale transactions of short and long-term financial instruments are realized within predetermined risk limits 
that are allowed for the purpose of increasing risk-free return on capital.  

The foreign currency position is carried based on a currency basket to minimize the foreign exchange risk. 
 

2. Foreign currency transactions 
 
2.1  Foreign currency exchange rates used in converting transactions denominated in foreign currencies and their 

presentation in the financial statements                                        

The Bank recognizes the foreign currency transactions in accordance with TAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign 

Exchange Rates”. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the foreign currency transactions are converted into 

Turkish Lira by using the exchange rates at the date of the transaction and recognized in accounting records. At the 

end of the periods, foreign currency assets and liabilities are converted into Turkish Lira by using the spot foreign 

currency exchange rates of the Bank and the related currency conversion differences are recognized as foreign 

exchange gains and losses.   
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II. Explanations on the usage strategy of financial instruments and on foreign currency transactions (continued) 

 
 

2. Foreign currency transactions (continued) 
 
2.1  Foreign currency exchange rates used in converting transactions denominated in foreign currencies and their 

presentation in the financial statements (continued)                                       

As at the end of the related periods, the Bank’s foreign currency exchange rates are as follows in full TL:  

     30 June 2021          31 December 2020      

US Dollar          8,6803                    7,3405                       

Euro          10,3249                   9,0079                       
 

III. Explanations on Equity Investments 
 

In the unconsolidated financial statements; subsidiaries and affiliates are accounted for in accordance with “TAS 27 - 

Separate Financial Statements” and recognized at acquisition cost in financial statements.   
 

IV. Explanations on forward transactions, options and derivative instruments  
 

The Bank’s derivative transactions mainly consist of currency swaps, interest rate swaps, currency options and 

currency forward purchase/sale contracts. The Bank does not have any embedded derivatives separated from the host 

contract.  

 
 

The Bank’s derivative instruments held for trading are classified as “Derivative Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value 

Through Profit and Loss” or “Derivative Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income” 

in accordance with "TFRS 9". In choosing accounting policy, TFRS 9 gives the option to postpone the acceptance of 

TFRS 9 financial hedging accounting and continue using TAS 39 financial hedging accounting. In accordance with this, 

Bank is continuing to use TAS 39 for financial hedging accounts. 

The liabilities and receivables arising from the derivative transactions are recorded as off-balance sheet items at their 

contractual values. 

Derivative transactions are measured at their fair values subsequent to their acquisition. In accordance with the 

classification of derivative financial instruments, if the fair value is positive, the amount is classified as "Derivative 

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss" or "Derivative Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other 

Comprehensive Income", if the fair value is negative, the amount is classified as "Derivative Financial Liabilities at 

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss" or "Derivative Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive 

Income". The fair value differences of derivative financial instruments are recognized in the statement of profit or 

loss under trading profit/loss line as profit/loss from derivative financial transactions.  

 
Explanations on derivative financial instruments held for hedging 
 

The Bank enters into cross currency interest rate swap transactions in order to hedge the change in fair values of 

fixed-rate financial instruments. While applying fair value hedge accounting, the changes in fair values of hedging 

instrument and hedged item are recognised in statement of profit or loss.  

If the hedging is effective, the changes in fair value of the hedged item, which is fixed rate TL denominated loans, 

are presented in statement of financial position together with the hedged item. Subsequently, derivative transactions 

are valued at their fair values and the changes in their fair values are recorded on balance sheet under “Derivative 

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss” or “Derivative Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit 

or Loss”, respectively depending on the fair values being positive or negative. Fair value changes are recorded under 

statement of profit or loss. 

The Bank performs effectiveness tests at the beginning of the hedge accounting period and at each reporting period.  

The hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, is exercised, sold or no longer effective. 

When discontinuing fair value hedge accounting, the cumulative fair value changes in carrying value of the hedged 

item arising from the hedged risk are amortized to statement of profit or loss over the life of the hedged item from 

that date of the hedge accounting is discontinued. 
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V. Explanations on interest income and expenses 

Interest income and expenses are recognized on accrual basis by using internal rate of return for financial assets and 

liabilities with given future cash payments and collections.  

VI. Explanations on fee and commission income and expenses 

Except for fees and commissions that are integral part of the effective interest rates of financial instruments measured 

at amortized costs, the fees and commissions are accounted for in accordance with “TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers”. Except for certain fees related with certain banking transactions and recognized when the related 

service is given, fees and commissions received or paid, and other fees and commissions paid to financial institutions 

are accounted on accrual basis throughout the service period. 

VII.  Explanations on financial assets  

Financial assets include cash on hand, contractual rights to receive cash or another financial asset from the 

counterparty or the right to exchange of financial instruments or equity instrument transactions of the counterparty. 

Financial assets are classified into three groups as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets 

at fair value through other comprehensive income, and financial assets measured at amortized cost.  

1. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets other than the ones that are managed with 

business model that aims to hold to collect contractual cash flows or business model that aims to collect both the 

contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of the assets; and if the contractual terms of the financial 

asset do not lead to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest at certain date; that are either 

acquired for generating a profit from short term fluctuations in prices or are financial assets included in a portfolio 

aiming to short-term profit making. Financial assets at the fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at 

fair value and remeasured at their fair value after recognition. All gains and losses arising from these valuations are 

reflected in the statement of profit or loss. 

Loans measured at fair value through profit or loss are subject to valuation in accordance with fair value principles 

and profit or losses, emerging as a result of valuation, are recognized under profit/loss accounts.  

2. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if financial asset is held within a 

business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and 

contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on principal amount outstanding.  

 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognized by adding transaction costs to 

acquisition cost reflecting the fair value of the financial asset. After the recognition, financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income are remeasured at fair value. Interest income calculated with effective interest 

rate method arising from financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and dividend income from 

equity securities are recorded to statement of profit or loss. “Unrealized gains and losses” arising from the difference 

between the amortized cost and the fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

are not reflected in the statement of profit or loss of the period until the acquisition of the asset, sale of the asset, 

the disposal of the asset, and impairment of the asset and they are accounted under the “Accumulated other 

comprehensive income or expense to be reclassified through profit or loss” under shareholders’ equity. When these 

securities are collected or disposed of, the accumulated fair value differences reflected in the equity are recognized 

in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

Equity securities, which are classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income can be 

measured are carried at fair value. However, in some exceptional cases, cost may be an appropriate estimation 

method for determining fair value. The cost is estimated to be the case fair value is reflected in the best way possible. 
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VII.  Explanations on financial assets (continued) 

3. Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments 

of principal and interest are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost. 
 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are initially recognized at acquisition cost including the transaction costs 

which reflect the fair value of those instruments and subsequently recognized at amortized cost by using effective 

interest rate method. Interest income obtained from financial assets measured at amortized cost is accounted in 

statement of profit or loss. 

4. Loans 

Loans are financial assets generated by providing cash, commodity or service to the borrower. These loans and 

receivables are recorded by acquisition cost reflecting fair value and afterwards measured at amortized cost by using 

effective interest rate (internal rate of return) method. Fees and other costs paid for the assets taken as collateral 

for those loans are not recognized as cost of operation and accounted in expense accounts. Bank’s loans are presented 

in “Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost” and “Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss” accounts. 
 

VIII.  Explanations on expected credit loss  

The Bank recognizes expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortized cost and measured at 

fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 

As of 1 January 2018, the Bank recognizes provisions for impairment in accordance with TFRS 9 requirements according 

to the “Regulation on the Procedures and Principles for Classification of Loans by Banks and Provisions to be set aside” 

published in the Official Gazette dated 22 September 2016 numbered 29750. 

The expected credit loss estimates are required to be unbiased, probability-weighted and include supportable 
information about past events, current conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

Expected credit loss is calculated by using following components: “Exposure at Default”, “Probability of Default” and 
“Loss Given Default”. 

Calculation of expected credit loss 

Financial assets are divided into three categories depending on the gradual increase in credit risk observed since their 

initial recognition: 

Stage 1 

For the financial assets at initial recognition or that do not have a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition. Impairment for credit risk will be recorded in the amount of 12-month expected credit losses. 
 

Stage 2 

In the event of a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the financial asset will be transferred to 

Stage 2. Impairment for credit risk will be determined on the basis of the instrument’s lifetime expected credit losses. 
 

Stage 3 

Stage 3 includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For these assets, 
lifetime expected credit losses are recognized.  
 

As part of TFRS 9, expected credit loss models are improved in process of exposure at default, probability of default 
and loss given default. These models are formed by taking into consideration internal ratings systems, past data and 
prospective expectations and considering below factors; 

- Costumer type (individual, corporate, commercial and SME) 
- Product type 
- Ratings used as part of internal ratings systems (for corporate segment) 
- Collaterals 
- Collection period 
- Exposure at default 
- Time passed since loan disbursement 
- Time to maturity 
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VIII.  Explanations on expected credit loss (continued)  

 
If the existing provision model is not able to reflect the situation, individual assessment is possible by using the cash 
flow expectations of Credits Monitoring and Collection Department. 

 

Exposure at Default: Expresses the exposure amount when debtor defaults. It accounts along with the maturity of 

the borrower. The amount of additional risk that may occur in case of default is added to the amount of risk and 

included in the calculations by using the credit conversion rates (CCR) for irrevocable commitments. 
 

Probability of Default: Refers to the probability of default due to the inability of the debtor to fulfill its obligations. 
12-month or lifetime estimation is performed according to whether there is an increase in credit risk or not. 
 

Loss Given Default: In the default of the borrower, it is calculated as the expected credit loss to exposure at default. 

Loss given default models include inputs such as product type, customer segment, collateral structure, customer 

payment performance. 
 

Macroeconomics Factors: Macroeconomics indicators are taken into account in determining the probability of 
default component in the expected credit loss calculation. Future macroeconomics forecasts are reflected in the 
expected credit loss calculations using more than one scenario. 
 

While macroeconomics information is included, models and estimates reflecting the relationships between model 

risk parameters and macroeconomics variables are taken into consideration. The main macroeconomics indicators 

that make up these estimation models are the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and the unemployment rate. 

Macroeconomics estimation models include more than one scenario and the related scenarios are taken into account 

in the expected credit loss calculations.  

Future expectations are determined based on 2 scenarios, base and negative. Each scenario has predetermined 

weights, and the final provisions are calculated by weighting on these probabilities.  

The Bank's macro-economic forecasting for forward-looking perspective, the current economic conditions, according 

to the New Economy Program (YEP) and expert opinions, it calculates the expected credit loss with two scenarios: 

base and negative.The macroeconomic value estimates taken into account are presented below; 

  Base Scenario Negative Scenario 

  Growth  Unemployment Growth  Unemployment 

1st year 5,80% 12,90% 3,70% 13,90% 

2st year 5,00% 11,80% 2,90% 12,80% 

3st year 5,00% 10,90% 2,90% 11,90% 

 

Calculation of Expected Loss Period: In determining the lifetime expected credit loss, the period in which the Bank 

will be exposed to credit risk is taken into consideration. Behavioural maturity analysis was performed on credit 

cards and overdraft accounts. The maximum period for which credit losses are to be recognized, except for credit 

cards and other revolving loans, is the contractual life of the financial instrument unless a legal right is required to 

recall the loan. 

Significant Increase in Credit Risk: Due to the significant increase in credit risk, the Bank performs quantitative 

and qualitative assessments to determine the financial assets to be classified as Stage 2 (Significant Increase in 

Credit Risk). 

 

Within the scope of the quantitative assessments made for the corporate segment, the Bank compares the change 

between the starting date and the date of the report by taking into account the time passed since the opening date. 

In order to make this comparison, the Bank specifies threshold values to determine which changes are accepted as 

significant change. The decision to classify financial assets with a significant increase in credit risk by exceeding 

these threshold values as Stage 2 is taken by the opinion of the Credits Department. 

 
Also, credit risk with an overdue period between 30 and 90 days is classified as Stage 2. However, in accordance with 
the decision of BRSA dated 17 March 2020 with the number 8948, due to the effects of COVID-19 on economic and 
trading activities, credit risk up to 180 days past due is also classified as Stage 2, temporarily.   
 

Within the scope of qualitative evaluations, financial assets under close monitoring as of the reporting date are 

classified as Stage 2.  
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IX. Explanations on offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when the Bank has a 

legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to collect/pay the related 

financial assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

X. Explanations on sale and repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions 

Securities subject to repo (repurchase agreements) are classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss”, “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” or “Financial assets measured at 

amortized cost” according to their purposes to be held in the Bank’s portfolio and evaluated within the principles 

of the relevant portfolio. Funds obtained from repurchase agreements are followed under the “Funds from repo 

transactions” account in liabilities, and interest expense accruals are calculated using the effective interest rate 

(internal rate of return) method on the difference between the sales and repurchase prices corresponding to the 

period designated by a repurchase agreement.  

 

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“Reverse repo”) transactions are accounted under the “Money 

market placements” in the balance sheet.    

XI. Explanations on noncurrent assets held for sale and discontinued operations and the related liabilities 

A tangible asset (or a disposal group) classified as “asset held for sale” is measured at the lower of the carrying value 

or fair value less costs to sell. Assets held for sale are not depreciated and presented in the financial statements 

separately. An asset (or a disposal group) is regarded as “asset held for sale” only when the sale is highly probable 

and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. For a highly probable sale, 

there must be a valid plan prepared by the management for the sale of asset including identification of possible buyers 

and completion of sale process. Furthermore, the asset should be actively marketed at a price consistent with its fair 

value.    

Events or circumstances may extend the period to complete the sale beyond one year. An extension of the period 

required to complete a sale does not preclude an asset (or disposal group) from being classified as held for sale if the 

delay is caused by events or circumstances beyond the entity's control and there is sufficient evidence that the entity 

remains committed to its plan to sell the asset (or disposal group).   

A discontinued operation is part of the Bank’s business classified as disposed or held-for-sale. The operating results of 

the discontinued operations are disclosed separately in the statement of profit or loss.  

The Bank does not have any discontinued operations. 

XII. Explanations on goodwill and other intangible assets 

As at the balance sheet date, there is no goodwill in the accompanying financial statements. The intangible assets of 

the Bank consist of software, intangible rights and other intangible assets.   

The costs of the intangible assets purchased before 1 January 2005 are recognized at their inflation adjusted costs as 

of 31 December 2004 and intangible assets purchased after 1 January 2005 are recognized at their acquisition cost 

less accumulated amortization and impairment, if any.   

Estimated useful lives of the intangible assets are 3 to 10 years, and amortization rates are 10% to 33,3%.   

If there is objective evidence of impairment, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated in accordance with the 

Turkish Accounting Standard 36 (TAS 36) “Impairment of Assets” and if the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 

value of the related asset, an allowance for impairment is recognized. 
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XIII. Explanations on tangible assets 

Tangible assets are measured at cost in accordance with the Turkish Accounting Standard 16 (TAS 16) “Tangible 

Assets”.   

The costs of the tangible assets purchased before 1 January 2005 are recognized at their inflation adjusted costs as of 

31 December 2004 and tangible assets purchased after 1 January 2005 are recognized at their acquisition cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.   

If there is objective evidence of impairment, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated in accordance with the 

Turkish Accounting Standard 36 (TAS 36) "Impairment of Assets" and if the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 

value of the related asset, an allowance for impairment is recognized.   

Gains/losses from the sale of the tangible assets are calculated as the difference between the net book value and the 

net sales price.  

Maintenance and repair costs incurred for tangible assets are recorded as expense.   

There are no restrictions such as pledges, mortgages or any other restriction on tangible assets.    

There are no changes in the accounting estimates that are expected to have an impact in the current or subsequent 

periods.   

Depreciation rates and estimated useful lives used for the tangible assets are as follows:   

Tangible Assets Estimated Useful Lives (Years) Depreciation Rates (%) 

Safe Boxes 50 2 

Vehicles 5 20 

Real Estate 50 2 

Other Tangible Assets 4-20 5-25 

 

Explanations about Leases Standard TFRS 16 
 

The Bank has started to implement TFRS 16 Leases, which was published in the Official Gazette dated 16 April 2018 

and numbered 29826 in its unconsolidated financial statements and became effective as of 1 January 2019, for the 

first time. 

  

TFRS 16 “Lease” Standard 
 

The Bank as a lessee according to “Lease” Standard: 
 

The Bank assesses whether the contract has the characteristic of a lease or whether the Contract includes a lease 

transaction at the beginning of a contract. In case the contract is transferred for a certain period of time to control 

the use of the asset defined for a price, it is either leased or includes a lease. The Bank reflects a right of use and a 

lease liability to the financial statements at the effective date of the lease. 
 

Right to use asset:  
 

The right to use asset is first recognized by cost method and includes:  

a) the initial measurement amount of the lease obligation,  

b) the amount obtained by deducting all the rental incentives received from all lease payments made at or before the 

beginning of the lease;  

c) all initial direct costs incurred by the Bank.  

 

When applying the cost method, the Bank measures the right to use as follows:  

a) deducts accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and  

b) measures the restatement of the lease obligation at the restated cost. 
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XIII. Explanations on tangible assets (continued) 

Explanations about Leases Standard TFRS 16 (continued) 

Bank applies depreciation clauses of TAS 16 Tangible Assets standard when measuring the depreciation of the right to 

use. 

 

Lease liabilities:  

At the effective date of the lease, the Bank measures its leasing liability at the present value of the lease payments 

not paid at that time. Lease payments are discounted using the implied leasing transaction rate, if easily identified. 

Otherwise Bank's incremental borrowing interest rates are used.  

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability consist of the payments to be made for the 

right of use during the lease term of the underlying asset and the unpaid payments at the effective date of the lease.  

After the effective date of the lease, the Bank measures the leasing liability as follows:  

a) Increases the book value to reflect the interest on the lease obligation  

b) Reduces the book value to reflect the lease payments made and  

c) The book value is measured to reflect reassessments and restructuring, or reflect to fixed lease payments as of 
revised nature. 
 

The interest on the lease liability for each period in the lease period is the amount calculated by applying a fixed 
periodic interest rate to the remaining balance of the lease liability.  

XIV. Explanations on leasing transactions 

As “TFRS 16 Leases” standard is valid starting on 1 January 2019, difference between operational lease and financial 

lease disappeared so that leasing transactions will be recognized as right-of-use assets and will be recognized under 

“Tangible Assets” and corresponding liability under “Lease Liabilities”. 

XV. Explanations on provisions and contingent liabilities  

Provisions and contingent liabilities are accounted in accordance with TAS 37 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets”. In the financial statements, a provision is made if there is a present obligation that arises from 

past events as of the balance sheet date, if it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 

will be required to settle the obligation and if a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the 

amount is not reliably estimated and there is no probability of cash outflow from the Bank to settle the liability, the 

related liability is considered as “contingent” and disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  

Provisions recognized during the period are recognized within “other operating expenses”; reversals of provisions 

recognized in the prior periods are recognized within “other operating income”.  

XVI. Explanations on contingent assets 

The contingent assets usually arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an 

inflow of economic benefits to the Bank. If an inflow of economic benefits has become probable, then the contingent 

asset is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of economic 

benefits will arise, the asset and the related income are recognized in the financial statements of the period in which 

the change occurs. 
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XVII. Explanations on liabilities for employee benefits 

As per the existing labour laws and agreements in Turkey, entities are required to pay severance for the employees 

retired or fired. These payments are qualified as recognized retirement benefit plan according to revised TAS 19 

Employee Benefits. Severance payment liability recognized in the balance sheet is calculated according to the net 

present value of expected amount in the future arising from all employees’ retirements and represented in 

represented in financial statements. All actuarial losses and gains are accounted for as other comprehensive income. 

The major assumptions used in the actuarial calculation are as follows:  

- Calculation is based on discount rate of 13,00%, inflation rate of 8,50%. 

- Effective as of 30 June 2021, ceiling salary amount is considered as TL 7.638,96 (full TL).  

- Individuals’ earliest retirement age is considered as retirement age.  

- CSO 1980 mortality table is used for the death probabilities of male and female employees.  

There are no employee foundation fund or similar institutions. 

XVIII. Explanations on taxation 

  1. Current Tax 

Effective from 1 January 2006, statutory income is subject to corporate tax at 20%, on the other hand as per the 

provisional article 91 of Law numbered 7061, which is added to Corporate Tax Law numbered 5520 corporate tax rate 

regarding 2018, 2019 and 2020 fiscal periods (accounting periods starting within the related period for companies 

which are assigned special accounting period) has changed as 22%. In accordance with the Article 11 of the Law No. 

7316 on the Procedure for the Collection of Public Receivables and the Law on Amendments to Certain Laws published 

in the Official Gazette dated April 22, 2021, and with the temporary Article 13 added to the Corporate Tax Law, the 

corporate tax rate is 25% for the taxation period of 2021 and this rate will be applied as 23% for the taxation period 

of 2022. In accordance with Article 14 of the Law, the rate to be applied for the year 2021 starts from the declarations 

to be submitted as of 1 July 2021 and it is valid for the taxation period starting from 1 January 2021. 

If there is no dividend distribution planned, no further tax charges are made. Dividends paid to the resident institutions 

and the institutions working through local offices or representatives are not subject to withholding tax. As per the 

decisions no.2009/14593 and no.2009/14594 of the Council of Ministers published in the Official Gazette no.27130 

dated 3 February 2009, certain duty rates included in the articles no.15 and 30 of the new Corporate Tax Law no.5520 

are revised. Accordingly, the withholding tax rate on the dividend payments other than the ones paid to the non-

resident institutions generating income in Turkey through their operations or permanent representatives and the 

resident institutions is 15%. In applying the withholding tax rates on dividend payments to the non-resident institutions 

and the individuals, the withholding tax rates covered in the related Double Tax Treaty Agreements are taken into 

account. Appropriation of the retained earnings to capital is not considered as profit distribution and therefore is not 

subject to withholding tax. 

The prepaid taxes are calculated and paid at the rates valid for the earnings of the related years. The prepayments 

can be deducted from the annual corporate tax calculated for the whole year earnings.  

In accordance with the tax legislation, tax losses can be carried forward to offset against future taxable income for 

up to five years. Tax losses cannot be carried back to offset profits from prior periods.  

In Turkey, there is no procedure for a final and definite agreement on tax assessments. Companies file their tax returns 

with their tax offices by the end of 25th of the fourth month following the close of the accounting period to which 

they relate. Tax returns are open for five years from the beginning of the year that follows the date of filing during 

which time the tax authorities have the right to audit tax returns, and the related accounting records on which they 

are based, and may issue re-assessments based on their findings. 
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2. Deferred Tax 

The Bank calculates and recognizes deferred tax for taxable temporary differences arising between the carrying values 

of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their corresponding balances considered in the calculation of 

the tax base according to the Turkish Accounting Standard 12 (TAS 12) “Income Taxes”.   

In accordance with the Article 11 of the Law No. 7316 on the Procedure for the Collection of Public Receivables and 

the Law on Amendments to Certain Laws published in the Official Gazette dated April 22, 2021, and with the temporary 

Article 13 added to the Corporate Tax Law, the corporate tax rate is 25% for the taxation period of 2021 and this rate 

will be applied as 23% for the taxation period of 2022. In accordance with Article 14 of the Law, the rate to be applied 

for the year 2021 starts from the declarations to be submitted as of 1 July 2021 and it is valid for the taxation period 

starting from 1 January 2021. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary and deferred tax assets are recognized for 

all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 

which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. 

Deferred tax rate calculation has started to be applied over temporary expected credit losses as per TFRS 9 articles 

from 1 January 2018. The Bank calculates deferred tax also for provisions for possible losses. 

As of 30 June 2021, the deferred tax asset is TL 186.415 (31 December 2020: TL 191.700 deferred tax asset). The 

deferred tax asset is calculated as the net of taxable and deductible temporary differences.  

Deferred tax income/(expense) is recognized within “Deferred Tax Income Effect” and “Deferred Tax Expense Effect” 

in the statement of profit or loss; deferred tax expense is TL 3.894 for the current period (1 January – 30 June 2020: 

TL 36.861 net income). The part of the deferred tax related to assets directly associated with equity is recognized in 

equity, this amount is TL 1.391 of expense (1 January – 30 June 2020: TL 946 income). 
 

3. Transfer Pricing 

The article 13 of the Corporate Tax Law describes the issue of transfer pricing under the title of “disguised profit 

distribution” by way of transfer pricing. “The General Communiqué on Disguised Profit Distribution by Way of Transfer 

Pricing” published at 18 November 2007, explains the application related issues on this topic.  

According to this Communiqué, if the taxpayers conduct transactions like purchase and sale of goods or services with 

the related parties where the prices are not determined according to the arm’s length principle, then it will be 

concluded that there is a disguised profit distribution by way of transfer pricing. Such disguised profit distributions 

will not be deducted from the corporate tax base for tax purposes.  

As stated in the “7.1 Annual Documentation” section of this communiqué, the taxpayers are required to fill out the 

“Transfer Pricing, Controlled Foreign Entities and Thin Capitalization” form for the purchase and sale of goods or 

services conducted with their related parties in a taxation period, attach these forms to their corporate tax returns 

and submit to the tax offices. Related forms are submitted to tax offices on time. 

 

XIX. Additional explanations on borrowings  

The Bank provides resources from domestic and foreign individuals and institutions both by borrowing funds and issuing 

bills and bonds.  

Borrowing instruments are initially measured at acquisition cost and subsequently measured at amortized cost with 

the effective interest method. In the accompanying financial statements, foreign currency denominated borrowing 

funds are converted to Turkish Lira with the Bank’s spot foreign exchange buy rates and interest expenses incurred 

during the period relating to the borrowing funds are recognized in statement of profit or loss.  
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XIX. Additional explanations on borrowings (continued)  

Additional Tier I Capital 

The Bank has recognised the issued Tier 1 securities of TL 100.000 nominal and related interest expenses for 2020 and 

2021 as under "prior periods profit or losses" in the balance sheet. Interest expense for the period before 2020, which 

was recorded in the” prior periods profit or losses" account as of the end of last year, was transferred to the related 

equity accounts within the scope of yearly profit distribution. 

 

It has recognised the issued Tier 1 of USD 30.000 nominal and related interest accrual as “subordinated debt”. 

Information on debt instruments to be included in the equity calculation is explained under the on equity items in the 

fourth section, Information on Financial Structure and Risk Management. 

XX. Explanations on share certificates issued 

None. 

XXI. Explanations on bank acceptances and bills of guarantee 

Bank acceptances and bills of guarantee are presented within off-balance sheet liabilities as being possible liabilities 

and commitments. Cash transactions relating to bank acceptances and bills of guarantee are realized concurrently 

with the customer payments.  

As of the balance sheet date, there are no bank acceptances and bills of guarantee recognized as liability against an 

asset.  

XXII. Explanation on government incentives  

As of the balance sheet date, the Bank does not have any government incentives. 

XXIII. Explanations on segment reporting 

 

The Bank operates in consumer banking services, current accounts, deposit accounts, long term investment products, 

clearing and custody services, credit and atm services, retail loans, long term mortgage loans, and all other kinds of 

consumer banking services and commercial services. 

 

 

  



FİBABANKA A.Ş.  

 

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD BETWEEN                   

1 JANUARY 2021 – 30 JUNE 2021 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL) unless otherwise stated.) 

 

22 
 

 

 

XXIV. Profit reserves and distribution of the profit 

In financial tables, except legal reserves, retained earnings can be distributed on condition that it has legal reserve 

requirement explained below.  

Legal reserves are consisted of first and second reserves as determined in Turkish Commercial Code (TCC). First legal 

reserve is appropriated by TCC at the rate of 5%, until the total reserve is equal to 20% of issued and fully paid-in 

share capital. Second legal reserve, appropriated at the rate of 10% of distributions in excess of 5% of issued and fully 

paid-in share capital, but holding companies are not subject to such transaction. According to the Turkish Commercial 

Code, legal reserves can only be used to compensate accumulated losses and cannot be used for other purposes unless 

they exceed 50% of paid-in capital.  

In the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting which was held on 26 March 2021, it was decided that the Bank would 

separate TL 10.554 as legal reserves and TL 200.545 as extraordinary reserves after deducting TL 18.736 (which is the 

interest expense of the Tier1 security having capital characteristics, TL 100.000 nominal, before 2020) from the net 

profit of TL 229.835 in 2020.  
 

XXV. Earnings Per Share 

Earnings per share disclosed in the statement of profit or loss are calculated by dividing net profit for the year by 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the related period concerned 

 30 June 2021 30 June 2020 

Net Profit / (Loss) distributable to Common Shares 173.338 120.653 

Average Number of Issued Common Shares (Thousand) 94.116.055 94.116.055 

Earnings Per Share (Amounts presented as full TL) 0,00184 0,00128 

In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by distributing “bonus shares” to existing shareholders from 

retained earnings. For the purpose of earnings per share computations, the weighted average number of shares 

outstanding during the year has been adjusted in respect of bonus shares issued without a corresponding change in 

resources by giving them a retroactive effect for the year in which they were issued and for each earlier period. In 

case bonus shares are distributed after the balance sheet date but before the preparation of the financial statements, 

earnings per share is calculated considering the new number of shares. 

There are no bonus shares issued by the Bank in 2021 (31 December 2020: None). 

XXVI. Cash and Cash Equivalent Assets 

Cash, cash in transit, purchased bank cheques and demand deposits including balance with Central Bank are considered 

as “Cash”; interbank money market placements time deposits at banks with original maturity periods of less than 

three months and receivables from reverse repo are considered as “Cash Equivalents”. Required reserves kept in 

Central Bank under blocked account are not “Cash Equivalents” in the statement of cash flow. 

 

XVII. Classifications 

The Bank made some classifications on balance sheet and cash flow statement dated 31 December 2020 to be in 

compliance with the presentation of financial statements dated 30 June 2021. Collaterals given for derivative 

transactions with foreign banks, which are shown under the item "Other Assets" in the balance sheet of 31 December 

2020, were classified under the "Banks" item in accordance with the amendments made within the scope of the 

Regulation on Uniform Chart of Accounts effective as of 1 January 2021.  

XXVIII. Other Disclosures 

BRSA has announced a series of measures to limit the negative effects of the worldwide uncertainty created by COVID-

19 pandemic observed in Turkey and  all over the world. The possible effects of these measures on the Bank's financial 

statements are closely monitored by the Bank's Management, and necessary measures are taken to keep the possible 

negative effects under control. 

With the Decision No. 9624 dated 17 June 2021 of the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency; 

As a result of the re-evaluation of Board Resolutions and instructions taken in the past, which brought temporary 

regulations on banks’ obligations, in order to  support the real sector, bank customers and banks in a period when 

uncertainties and risks in global markets are high due to the pandemic, in the current period it would be appropriate 

to extend those regulations with the same purposes, thus within this framework until 30 September 2021. 
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XXVIII. Other Disclosures (continued) 

-In accordance with the Regulation on Measurement and  Assessment of Capital Adequacy of Banks, in calculation of 

amount subject to credit risk, to calculate the amount of the non-monetary and  monetary assets, excluding the items 

in foreign currencies in accordance with Turkey Accounting Standards and the amount of related specific provisions, 

it is possible to use simple arithmetic mean of Central Bank’s foreign currency buying rates belonging to the last 252 

business days from the calculation date, 

-If the net valuation differences of the securities owned by banks in the “Securities with Fair Value Differences 

Reflected in Other Comprehensive Income” portfolio are negative, these differences may not be taken into account 

in the amount of  equity to be calculated in accordance with the Regulation On Own Funds Of Banks and used for the 

capital adequacy ratio (The Bank does not have any negative valuation difference within the scope as of 30 June 

2021.), 

- As stated in the Board Decision dated March 17, 2020 and numbered 8948, the 90-day delay period foreseen for the 

non-performing loan classification within the scope of Articles 4 and 5 of Regulation on Procedures and Principles for 

Classification of Loans and the Provisions to be Set Aside, for these loans it shall be applied as 180 days and continuing 

to allocate provisions for loans that are still classified in the Second Group despite the delay, according to the banks’ 

own risk models in the calculation of expected credit losses within the scope of TFRS 9, 

- As stated in the Board Decision dated March 27, 2020 and numbered 8970, within the scope of Article 4 of the 

Regulation on the Procedures and Principles Regarding the Classification of Loans and the Provisions to be Set Aside, 

the 30 days delay period for the classification of the loans in the Second Group shall be applied as 90 days for the 

loans followed in the First Group and provisions for loans that continue to be classified in the First Group despite the 

30-day delay, shall be continued to allocate according to the banks’ own risk models in the calculation of expected 

credit losses within the scope of TFRS 9. 
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SECTION FOUR 

INFORMATION ON FINANCIAL POSITION AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

Total capital and capital adequacy ratio have been calculated in accordance with the “Regulation on Equity of Banks” 

and “Regulation on Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy of Banks”. 

As of 30 June 2021, the Bank’s total capital has been calculated as TL 4.595.192 and the capital adequacy ratio is 

20,38% (As of 31 December 2020, the Bank’s total capital amounted to TL 4.163.418 and the capital adequacy ratio 

was 19,39%). 

 

I. Information related to the components of shareholders’ equity: 

 

 

Current 
Period 

(30/06/2021) 
Amount 

Amount as 
per the 
regulation 
before 
1/1/2014 * 

TIER I CAPITAL  
 

Paid-in capital to be entitled for compensation after all creditors 941.161  

Share Premium 128.678  

Reserves (**) 785.502  

Other comprehensive income according to TAS 25.017  

Profit 173.338  

    Current period profit 173.338  

     Prior period profit 
-- 

 

Bonus shares from associates, subsidiaries and joint-ventures not accounted in current period's 
profit 

-- 
 

 
Tier I Capital Before Deductions 2.053.696  
 
Deductions From Tier I Capital 

 
 

Valuation adjustments calculated as per the article 9. (i) of the Regulation on Bank Capital 
-- -- 

Current and prior periods' losses not covered by reserves, and losses accounted under equity 
according to TAS (***)  35.773 

-- 

Improvement costs for operational leasing 8.469 
-- 

Goodwill and other intangible assets and related deferred taxes  
-- -- 

Other intangibles other than mortgage-servicing rights (net of related tax liability) 
179.247 -- 

Excess amount arising from deferred tax assets from temporary differences  
28.875 -- 

Differences arise when assets and liabilities not held at fair value, are subjected to cash flow 
hedge accounting 

-- -- 

Total credit losses that exceed total expected loss calculated according to the Regulation on 
Calculation of Credit Risk by Internal Ratings Based Approach 

-- -- 

Securitization gains 
  

Unrealised gains and losses due to the changes in own credit risk on fair valued liabilities 
-- -- 

 
  

(**)The difference between the expected credit loss calculated in accordance with TFRS 9 and the total provision amount calculated with the method before TFRS 9 has 
been recorded in the "Retained Earnings" account; in accordance with Provisional Article 5 of the Regulation on Equity of Banks, related amount is shown net by adding back 
20% of the provision difference, net of tax. 
(***) Based on the decision of BRSA, dated 23 March 2020 and numbered 3397, if the net valuation differences of the securities held by banks in the portfolio of “Financial 

Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income” are negative, they are not included in the equity calculation. 
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Current 
Period 

(30/06/2021) 
Amount 

Amount as 
per the 
regulation 
before 
1/1/2014 * 

Net amount of defined benefit plans 
-- -- 

Direct and indirect investments of the Bank on its own Tier I Capital  
-- -- 

Shares obtained against Article 56, Paragraph 4 of the Banking Law  
-- -- 

Total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks and 
financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or less of the issued share capital exceeding the 
10% threshold of above Tier I Capital  

-- -- 

Total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks and 
financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or more of the issued share capital exceeding the 
10% threshold of above Tier I Capital  

-- -- 

Mortgage servicing rights exceeding the 10% threshold of Tier I Capital  
-- -- 

Net deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences exceeding the 10% threshold of Tier I 
Capital  

-- -- 

Amount exceeding 15% threshold of Tier I Capital as per the Article 2, Clause 2 of the Regulation 
on Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy Ratios of Banks  

-- -- 

The portion of net long position of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks and 
financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or more of the issued share capital not deducted 
from Tier I Capital  

-- -- 

Excess amount arising from mortgage servicing rights 
-- -- 

Excess amount arising from deferred tax assets from temporary differences  
-- -- 

Other items to be defined by the BRSA 
-- 

 

Deductions from Tier I Capital in cases where there are no adequate Additional Tier I or Tier II 
Capitals 

-- -- 

 
Total Deductions From Common Equity Tier I Capital 252.364 

-- 

 
Total Common Equity Tier I Capital 1.801.332 

-- 

 
ADDITIONAL TIER I CAPITAL 

   

Preferred stock not included in Tier I capital and the related share premiums -- -- 

Debt instruments and the related issuance premiums defined by the BRSA  360.409 -- 

Debt instruments and the related issuance premiums defined by the BRSA (Covered by Temporary 
Article 4) 

-- 
-- 

 
Additional Core Capital before Deductions 360.409 

-- 

 
Deductions from Additional Core Capital 

-- 
 

 
Direct and indirect investments of the Bank on its own Additional Tier I Capital  

-- -- 

 
Investments in equity instruments issued by Banks or financial institutions invested in Bank’s 
Additional Tier I Capital and having conditions stated in the Article 7 of the Regulation -- -- 

 
The total of net long position of the direct or indirect investments in Additional Tier I Capital of 
unconsolidated banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns more than 10% of the issued 
share capital  

-- -- 
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Current 
Period 

(30/06/2021) 
Amount 

Amount as per 
the regulation 
before 
1/1/2014 * 

The total of net long position of the direct or indirect investments in Additional Tier I Capital of 
unconsolidated banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns more than 10% of the issued 
share capital  

-- 

 

-- 

Other items to be defined by the BRSA  
-- -- 

 
Items to be Deducted from Tier I Capital during the Transition Period   

Goodwill and other intangible assets and related deferred tax liabilities which will not deducted 
from Common Equity Tier I capital for the purposes of the first sub-paragraph of the Provisional 
Article 2 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds (-) 

-- -- 

Net deferred tax asset/liability not deducted from Tier I Capital as per the Temporary Article 2, 
Clause 1 of the Regulation on Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy Ratios of Banks (-) 

-- -- 

Deduction from Additional Tier I Capital when there is not enough Tier II Capital (-) -- -- 

 
Total Deductions from Additional Tier I Capital 

-- -- 

 
Total Additional Tier I Capital 

360.409 -- 

 
Total Tier I Capital (Tier I Capital=Common Equity+Additional Tier I Capital) 

2.161.741 -- 

 
TIER II CAPITAL 

 
 

Debt instruments and share issue premiums deemed suitable by the BRSA 2.182.609 -- 

Debt instruments and share issue premiums deemed suitable by BRSA (Temporary Article 4) 
-- -- 

Provisions (Article 8 of the Regulation on the Equity of Banks) 
250.842 -- 

 
Tier II Capital before Deductions 

2.433.451 -- 

 
Deductions from Tier II Capital 

 
 

Direct and indirect investments of the Bank on its own Tier II Capital (-) -- -- 

Investments in equity instruments issued by banks and financial institutions invested in Bank’s Tier 
II Capital and having conditions stated in the Article 8 of the Regulation 

-- -- 

Total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks and financial 
institutions where the Bank owns 10% or less of the issued share capital exceeding the 10% 
threshold of above Tier I Capital (-) 

-- -- 

Total of net long position of the direct or indirect investments in Additional Tier I Capital and Tier II 
Capital of unconsolidated banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or more of the 
issued share capital exceeding the 10% threshold of Tier I Capital (-) -- -- 

Other items to be defined by the BRSA (-) -- 
 

 
Total Deductions from Tier II Capital 

-- 
 

 
Total Tier II Capital 

2.433.451 
 

 
Total Equity (Total Tier I and Tier II Capital) 

4.595.192 
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Current 
Period 

(30/06/2021) 
Amount 

Amount as 
per the 
regulation 
before 
1/1/2014 * 

 
Total Tier I Capital and Tier II Capital ( Total Equity) 

4.595.192 -- 

 
Loans granted against the Articles 50 and 51 of the Banking Law  

-- -- 

 
Net book values of movables and immovable exceeding the limit defined in the Article 57, Clause 1 
of the Banking Law and the assets acquired against overdue receivables and held for sale but 
retained more than five years  -- -- 

 
Other items to be defined by the BRSA  

-- -- 

 
Items to be Deducted from the Sum of Tier I and Tier II Capital (Capital) During the Transition 
Period -- -- 

 
The portion of total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks 
and financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or less of the issued share capital exceeding the 
10% threshold of above Tier I Capital not deducted from Tier I Capital, Additional Tier I Capital or 
Tier II Capital as per the Temporary Article 2, Clause 1 of the Regulation  -- -- 

 
The portion of total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks 
and financial institutions where the Bank owns more than 10% of the issued share capital exceeding 
the 10% threshold of above Tier I Capital not deducted from Additional Tier I Capital or Tier II 
Capital as per the Temporary Article 2, Clause 1 of the Regulation  

-- -- 

 
The portion of net long position of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks and 
financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or more of the issued share capital, of the net 
deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences and of the mortgage servicing rights not 
deducted from Tier I Capital as per the Temporary Article 2, Clause 2, Paragraph (1) and (2) and 
Temporary Article 2, Clause 1 of the Regulation  

-- -- 

 
EQUITY 4.595.192  
 
Total Capital ( Total of Tier I Capital and Tier II Capital ) 4.595.192 

-- 

 
Total Risk Weighted Assets (****) 22.552.588 

-- 

 
CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS   
 
Core Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 7,99 

-- 

 
Tier I Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 9,59 

-- 

 
Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 20,38 

-- 

 
BUFFERS   
 
Total Additional Core Capital Requirement Ratio (a+b+c) 2,56  

 
a)Capital Conservation Buffer Requirement (%) 2,50 -- 

 
b)Bank-specific Counter-Cyclical Buffer Requirement(%) 0,06 -- 

 
c)Systemically Important Banks Buffer Requirement Ratio (%) -- -- 
(****)It is used simple arithmetic mean of Central Bank’s foreign currency buying rates belonging to the last 252 business days from the calculation date. 
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Current 
Period 

(30/06/2021) 
Amount 

Amount as 
per the 
regulation 
before 
1/1/2014 * 

 
The ratio of Additional Common Equity Tier I capital which will be calculated by the first paragraph 
of the Article 4 of Regulation on Capital Conservation and Countercyclical Capital Buffers to risk 
weighted assets (%) 

3,59 -- 

 
Amounts lower than Excesses as per Deduction Rules 

-- -- 

 
Remaining total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks 
and financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or less of the issued share capital -- -- 

 
Remaining total of net long positions of the investments in Tier I Capital of unconsolidated banks 
and financial institutions where the Bank owns more than 10% or less of the Tier I Capital -- -- 

 
Remaining mortgage servicing rights 

-- -- 

 
Net deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences 

-- -- 

 
Limits for Provisions Used in Tier II Capital Calculation 

-- -- 

 
General provisions for standard based receivables (before tenthousandtwentyfive limitation) 432.484 

-- 

 
Up to 1,25% of total risk-weighted amount of general provisions for receivables where the standard 
approach used 250.842 

-- 

 
Total loan provision that exceeds total expected loss calculated according to Communiqué on 
Calculation of Credit Risk by Internal Ratings Based Approach -- -- 

 
Total loan provision that exceeds total expected loss calculated according to Communiqué on 
Calculation of Credit Risk by Internal Ratings Based Approach, limited by 0,6% risk weighted assets -- -- 

 
Debt Instruments Covered by Temporary Article 4 (effective between 01/01/2018-01/01/2022) 

-- -- 

 
Upper limit for Additional Tier I Capital items subject to Temporary Article 4 

-- -- 

 
Amount of Additional Tier I Capital items subject to Temporary Article 4 that exceeds upper limit 

-- -- 

 
Upper limit for Additional Tier II Capital items subject to Temporary Article 4 

-- -- 

 
Amount of Additional Tier II Capital items subject to Temporary Article 4 that exceeds upper limit 

-- -- 

  * The amounts to be considered under the transitional provisions  
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II. Information related to the components of shareholders’ equity: 

 

Prior Period 
(31/12/2020) 

Amount 

 
Amount as 

per the 
regulation 

before 
1/1/2014* 

TIER I CAPITAL 
 

 

Paid-in capital to be entitled for compensation after all creditors 941.161  

Share Premium 128.678  

Reserves (**) 652.414  

Other comprehensive income according to TAS 22.263 
 

Profit 229.835  

    Current period profit 229.835  

     Prior period profit 
-- 

 

Bonus shares from associates, subsidiaries and joint-ventures not accounted in current period's 
profit 

-- 
 

 
Tier I Capital Before Deductions 1.974.351  
 
Deductions From Tier I Capital 

 
 

Valuation adjustments calculated as per the article 9. (i) of the Regulation on Bank Capital 
-- -- 

Current and prior periods' losses not covered by reserves, and losses accounted under equity 
according to TAS (***)  44.426 

-- 

Improvement costs for operational leasing 9.422 
-- 

Goodwill and other intangible assets and related deferred taxes  
-- -- 

Other intangibles other than mortgage-servicing rights (net of related tax liability) 
153.888 -- 

Excess amount arising from deferred tax assets from temporary differences  
30.200 -- 

Differences arise when assets and liabilities not held at fair value, are subjected to cash flow 
hedge accounting 

-- -- 

Total credit losses that exceed total expected loss calculated according to the Regulation on 
Calculation of Credit Risk by Internal Ratings Based Approach 

-- -- 

Securitization gains 
  

Unrealised gains and losses due to the changes in own credit risk on fair valued liabilities 
-- -- 

 
(**)The difference between the expected credit loss calculated in accordance with TFRS 9 and the total provision amount calculated with the method before TFRS 9 has been 
recorded in the "Retained Earnings" account; in accordance with Provisional Article 5 of the Regulation on Equity of Banks, related amount is shown net by adding back 40% of 
the provision difference, net of tax. 
(***) Based on the decision of BRSA, dated 23 March 2020 and numbered 3397, if the net valuation differences of the securities held by banks in the portfolio of “Financial 
Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income” are negative, they are not included in the equity calculation. 
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Prior Period 
(31/12/2020) 

Amount 

Amount as 
per the 

regulation 
before 

1/1/2014* 

Net amount of defined benefit plans -- -- 

Direct and indirect investments of the Bank on its own Tier I Capital  
-- -- 

Shares obtained against Article 56, Paragraph 4 of the Banking Law  
-- -- 

Total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks and financial 
institutions where the Bank owns 10% or less of the issued share capital exceeding the 10% 
threshold of above Tier I Capital  

-- -- 

Total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks and financial 
institutions where the Bank owns 10% or more of the issued share capital exceeding the 10% 
threshold of above Tier I Capital  

-- -- 

Mortgage servicing rights exceeding the 10% threshold of Tier I Capital  
-- -- 

Net deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences exceeding the 10% threshold of Tier I 
Capital  

-- -- 

Amount exceeding 15% threshold of Tier I Capital as per the Article 2, Clause 2 of the Regulation 
on Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy Ratios of Banks  

-- -- 

The portion of net long position of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks and 
financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or more of the issued share capital not deducted 
from Tier I Capital  

-- -- 

Excess amount arising from mortgage servicing rights 
-- -- 

Excess amount arising from deferred tax assets from temporary differences  
-- -- 

Other items to be defined by the BRSA 
-- 

 

Deductions from Tier I Capital in cases where there are no adequate Additional Tier I or Tier II 
Capitals 

-- -- 

 
Total Deductions From Common Equity Tier I Capital 237.936 

-- 

 
Total Common Equity Tier I Capital 1.736.415 

-- 

 
ADDITIONAL TIER I CAPITAL  

 

Preferred stock not included in Tier I capital and the related share premiums  
-- 

 
-- 

Debt instruments and the related issuance premiums defined by the BRSA  320.215 -- 

Debt instruments and the related issuance premiums defined by the BRSA (Covered by Temporary 
Article 4) 

-- 
-- 

 
Additional Core Capital before Deductions 

320.215 -- 

 
Deductions from Additional Core Capital 

-- 
 

 
Direct and indirect investments of the Bank on its own Additional Tier I Capital  

-- -- 

 
Investments in equity instruments issued by Banks or financial institutions invested in Bank’s 
Additional Tier I Capital and having conditions stated in the Article 7 of the Regulation -- -- 

 
The total of net long position of the direct or indirect investments in Additional Tier I Capital of 
unconsolidated banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns more than 10% of the issued 
share capital  

-- -- 
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Prior Period 
(31/12/2020) 

Amount 

Amount as 
per the 

regulation 
before 

1/1/2014*  

The total of net long position of the direct or indirect investments in Additional Tier I Capital 
of unconsolidated banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns more than 10% of the 
issued share capital  

-- 

 

-- 

Other items to be defined by the BRSA  
-- -- 

 
Items to be Deducted from Tier I Capital during the Transition Period   

Goodwill and other intangible assets and related deferred tax liabilities which will not 
deducted from Common Equity Tier I capital for the purposes of the first sub-paragraph of the 
Provisional Article 2 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds (-) 

-- -- 

Net deferred tax asset/liability not deducted from Tier I Capital as per the Temporary Article 
2, Clause 1 of the Regulation on Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy Ratios of 
Banks (-) -- -- 

Deduction from Additional Tier I Capital when there is not enough Tier II Capital (-) -- -- 

 
Total Deductions from Additional Tier I Capital 

-- -- 

 
Total Additional Tier I Capital 

320.215 -- 

 
Total Tier I Capital (Tier I Capital=Common Equity+Additional Tier I Capital) 

2.056.630 -- 

 
TIER II CAPITAL 

 
 

Debt instruments and share issue premiums deemed suitable by the BRSA 1.868.480 -- 

Debt instruments and share issue premiums deemed suitable by BRSA (Temporary Article 4) 
-- -- 

Provisions (Article 8 of the Regulation on the Equity of Banks) 
238.308 -- 

 
Tier II Capital before Deductions 

2.106.788 -- 

 
Deductions from Tier II Capital 

 
 

Direct and indirect investments of the Bank on its own Tier II Capital (-) -- -- 

Investments in equity instruments issued by banks and financial institutions invested in Bank’s 
Tier II Capital and having conditions stated in the Article 8 of the Regulation 

-- -- 

Total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks and 
financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or less of the issued share capital exceeding the 
10% threshold of above Tier I Capital (-) 

-- -- 

Total of net long position of the direct or indirect investments in Additional Tier I Capital and 
Tier II Capital of unconsolidated banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or 
more of the issued share capital exceeding the 10% threshold of Tier I Capital (-) -- -- 

Other items to be defined by the BRSA (-) -- 
 

 
Total Deductions from Tier II Capital 

-- 
 

 
Total Tier II Capital 

2.106.788 
 

 
Total Equity (Total Tier I and Tier II Capital) 

4.163.418 
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Prior Period 
(31/12/2020) 

Amount 

Amount as 
per the 

regulation 
before 

1/1/2014*  

 
Total Tier I Capital and Tier II Capital ( Total Equity) 

4.163.418 -- 

 
Loans granted against the Articles 50 and 51 of the Banking Law  

-- -- 

 
Net book values of movables and immovable exceeding the limit defined in the Article 57, 
Clause 1 of the Banking Law and the assets acquired against overdue receivables and held for 
sale but retained more than five years  -- -- 

 
Other items to be defined by the BRSA  -- 

-- 

 
Items to be Deducted from the Sum of Tier I and Tier II Capital (Capital) During the 
Transition Period -- -- 

 
The portion of total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated 
banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or less of the issued share capital 
exceeding the 10% threshold of above Tier I Capital not deducted from Tier I Capital, 
Additional Tier I Capital or Tier II Capital as per the Temporary Article 2, Clause 1 of the 
Regulation  

-- -- 

 
The portion of total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated 
banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns more than 10% of the issued share capital 
exceeding the 10% threshold of above Tier I Capital not deducted from Additional Tier I Capital 
or Tier II Capital as per the Temporary Article 2, Clause 1 of the Regulation  

-- -- 

 
The portion of net long position of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated banks 
and financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or more of the issued share capital, of the 
net deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences and of the mortgage servicing rights 
not deducted from Tier I Capital as per the Temporary Article 2, Clause 2, Paragraph (1) and 
(2) and Temporary Article 2, Clause 1 of the Regulation  

-- -- 

 
EQUITY 4.163.418  
 
Total Capital ( Total of Tier I Capital and Tier II Capital ) 4.163.418 

-- 

 
Total Risk Weighted Assets (****) 21.472.702 

-- 

 
CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS   
 
Core Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 8,09 

-- 

 
Tier I Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 9,58 

-- 

 
Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 19,39 

-- 

 
BUFFERS   
 
Total Additional Core Capital Requirement Ratio (a+b+c) 2,58  

 
a)Capital Conservation Buffer Requirement (%) 2,50 -- 

 
b)Bank-specific Counter-Cyclical Buffer Requirement(%) 0,08 -- 

 
c)Systemically Important Banks Buffer Requirement Ratio (%) -- -- 
(****)It is used simple arithmetic mean of Central Bank’s foreign currency buying rates belonging to the last 252 business days from the calculation date. 
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Prior Period 
(31/12/2020) 

Amount 

Amount as 
per the 

regulation 
before 

1/1/2014*  

 
The ratio of Additional Common Equity Tier I capital which will be calculated by the first 
paragraph of the Article 4 of Regulation on Capital Conservation and Countercyclical Capital 
Buffers to risk weighted assets (%) 

3,58 -- 

 
Amounts lower than Excesses as per Deduction Rules 

-- -- 

 
Remaining total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of unconsolidated 
banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or less of the issued share capital -- -- 

 
Remaining total of net long positions of the investments in Tier I Capital of unconsolidated 
banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns more than 10% or less of the Tier I 
Capital 

-- -- 

 
Remaining mortgage servicing rights 

-- -- 

 
Net deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences 

-- -- 

 
Limits for Provisions Used in Tier II Capital Calculation 

-- -- 

 
General provisions for standard based receivables (before tenthousandtwentyfive limitation) 451.871 

-- 

 
Up to 1,25% of total risk-weighted amount of general provisions for receivables where the 
standard approach used 238.308 

-- 

 
Total loan provision that exceeds total expected loss calculated according to Communiqué on 
Calculation of Credit Risk by Internal Ratings Based Approach -- -- 

 
Total loan provision that exceeds total expected loss calculated according to Communiqué on 
Calculation of Credit Risk by Internal Ratings Based Approach, limited by 0,6% risk weighted 
assets 

-- -- 

 
Debt Instruments Covered by Temporary Article 4 (effective between 01/01/2018-
01/01/2022) 

-- -- 

 
Upper limit for Additional Tier I Capital items subject to Temporary Article 4 

-- -- 

 
Amount of Additional Tier I Capital items subject to Temporary Article 4 that exceeds upper 
limit 

-- -- 

 
Upper limit for Additional Tier II Capital items subject to Temporary Article 4 

-- -- 

 
Amount of Additional Tier II Capital items subject to Temporary Article 4 that exceeds upper 
limit 

-- -- 

*  The amounts to be considered under the transitional provisions 
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Explanations on reconciliation of shareholder’s equity items to balance sheet: 
 

The difference between “Equity” in equity table and “Shareholder’s Equity” in the unconsolidated balance sheet 

mainly arises from the subordinated bonds, general provisions and TFRS 9 transition effect. In the calculation of Total 

Capital, general reserve up to 1,25% of credit risk is taken into consideration as Tier II Capital. 

 

On the other hand, in the calculation of the ”Equity”, improvement costs for operational leases presented under 

tangible assets in the balance sheet, together with related deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets calculated 

for provision for possible losses and other items defined by the regulator are taken into consideration as amounts 

deducted from Total Capital. 

 

Debt instruments included in shareholder’s equity calculation: 
 

  

Issuer Fibabanka A.Ş. Fibabanka A.Ş. Fibabanka A.Ş. 

Code of debt instrument (CUSIP, ISIN etc.) XS1386178237 TRSFIBA10016 XS2096028571 

Regulation of debt instrument 

BRSA’s "Regulation 
on Equities of Banks" 

dated 1 November 
2006”  and English 

Law 

BRSA’s "Regulation on 
Equities of Banks" 
dated 1 November 

2006”    

BRSA’s "Regulation on 
Equities of Banks" 
dated 1 November 

2006” and English law    

Consideration Status in Shareholders’ Equity Calculation      

Situation of being subject to practice of being 
taken into consideration with 10% deduction 
after 1/1/2015 

No No No 

Eligible at unconsolidated / consolidated Unconsolidated and 
Consolidated 

Unconsolidated and 
Consolidated 

Unconsolidated and 
Consolidated 

Type of debt instrument 
Subordinated 

Security Subordinated Security Subordinated Security 

Recognized amount in shareholders’ equity 
calculation (As of the most recent reporting date 
– Thousand TL) 

2.182.609 100.000 260.409 

Nominal value of debt instrument (Thousand TL) 2.604.090 100.000 260.409 

Related account of debt instrument Subordinated Debt 
Instruments Shareholders’ Equity 

Subordinated Debt 
Instruments 

Issuing date of debt instrument 24/03/16-10/05/17 20/03/19 31/12/19 

Maturity structure of debt instrument 
(Demand/Time) 

Time Demand Demand 

Initial term of debt instrument 11 years -- -- 

Issuer call subject to prior BRSA approval Has pre-payment right Has pre-payment right Has pre-payment right 

Optional call date, reimbursement amount 

24/11/2022;  13/03/2024;               
TL 100 million  

31/12/2024;               
USD 30 million  USD 300 million  

   Subsequent call date, if any None 
At the end of every 
5th year following 

On each interest 
payments date after 

first 5 years 

        



FİBABANKA A.Ş.  

 

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD BETWEEN                   

1 JANUARY 2021 – 30 JUNE 2021 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL) unless otherwise stated.) 

 

35 
 

 

 
 
Interest/Dividend Payments    

Fixed or floating interest/dividend payments Floating interest Floating interest Floating interest 

Interest rate or index value of interest rate 

Up to pay back 
option date 7,75% (5 

years mid-swap 
rate+5,758%); 

afterwards current 5 
years mid-swap 

rate+5,758% 
8% additional 

return on TRLibor   
10% additional 
return on Libor   

Whether there is any restriction to stop dividend payments or not None None None 

Feature of being fully optional, partially optional or obligatory  Obligatory   Optional   Optional  

Whether there is any stimulant to repayment like interest rate 
hike or not None None None 

Feature of being cumulative or noncumulative --  --  --  

Feature of being convertible bonds       

If there are convertible bonds, trigger incidents cause this 
conversion -- -- -- 

If there are convertible bonds, feature of full or partially 
conversion -- -- -- 

If there are convertible bonds, rate of conversion -- -- -- 

If there are convertible bonds, feature of conversion – obligatory 
or optional- -- -- -- 

If there are convertible bonds, types of convertible instruments -- -- -- 

If there are convertible bonds, exporter of convertible debt 
instruments -- -- -- 

Feature of value reducement       

If there are a feature of value reducement, trigger incidents 
cause this reducement --  

Under the 
condition that 

unconsolidated 
and/or 

consolidated  Tier 
I capital 

adequacy ratio 
drop below 

BRSA’s ratio 

Under the 
condition that 

unconsolidated 
and/or 

consolidated  Tier 
I capital 

adequacy ratio 
drop below 

BRSA’s ratio 

If there are a feature of value reducement, feature of full or 
partially reducement of value --  

Partially and 
totally  

Partially and 
totally  

If there are a feature of value reducement, feature of being 
constant of temporary --  --  --  

If there are a feature of value reducement, mechanism of  value 
incrementation --  --  --  

Claiming rank in case of winding up (Instrument that is just above 
debt instrument) 

After the other 
borrowers except 

depositors 

After depositors, 
other borrowers 

and Tier II 
capital  

After depositors, 
other borrowers 

and Tier II 
capital  

Whether meeting the conditions defined by 7th or 8th articles of 
Shareholders’ Equity of Banks Regulation 

Meets the 
conditions 

defined by 8th 
article, does not 

meet the 
conditions 

defined by 7th 
article. 

Meets the 
conditions 

defined by 7th 
article, does not 

meet the 
conditions 

defined by 8th 
article. 

Meets the 
conditions 

defined by 7th 
article, does not 

meet the 
conditions 

defined by 8th 
article. 

The conditions not met which were defined by 7th or 8th of the 
7th or 8th articles of Shareholders’ Equity of Banks Regulation  -- 

Cannot be 
converted to 

stock. 

Cannot be 
converted to 

stock. 
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Information on Article 5 of the Regulation on Equities of Banks: 
 2021 2022 

EQUITY ITEMS   

Common Equity  1.801.332      1.879.343     

 Common Equity if transition process not implemented a   1.723.328      1.723.328     

Tier 1 Capital  2.161.741      2.239.758     

 Tier 1 Capital if transition process not implemented b   2.083.737      2.083.737     

Total Capital  4.595.192      4.673.209     

 Equity if transition process not implemented c   4.517.188      4.517.188     

   

TOTAL RISK WEIGHTED AMOUNTS   

Total Risk Weighted Amounts  22.552.589      22.552.589     

   

CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO   

Common Equity Adequacy Ratio (%) 7,99  8,33  

 Common Equity Ratio if transition process not implemented d (%) 7,64  7,64  

Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 9,59  9,93  

Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio if transition process not implemented d (%) 9,24  9,24  

Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 20,38  20,72  

  Capital Adequacy Ratio if transition process not implemented d (%) 20,03  20,03  

   

LEVERAGE   

Leverage Ratio Total Risk Amount(*) 34.386.251 34.386.251 

Leverage (%)  6,39      6,62     

 Leverage Ratio if transition process not implemented e (%)  6,62      6,62     

a 
Common Equity if

 “
Provisional Article 5 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds” not implemented  

b  
Tier 1 Capital if

 “
Provisional Article 5 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds” not implemented  

c  
Equity if “Provisional Article 5 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds” not implemented 

d   
Capital Adequacy Ratio calculated with Equity Items if

 “
Provisional Article 5 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds” not implemented  

e   
Leverage Ratio calculated with Equity Items if

 “
Provisional Article 5 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds” not implemented  

(*) It is  used simple arithmetic mean of Central Bank’s foreign currency buying rates belonging to the last 252 business days from the calculation date. 
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III. Explanations on Risk Management 
 

Notes and explanations in this section have been prepared in accordance with the Communiqué on Disclosures about 

RWA flow statements of credit risk exposures under IRB Risk Management to Be Announced to Public by Banks that 

have been published in Official Gazette no. 29511 on 23 October 2015 and became effective as of 31 March 2016. Due 

to usage of standard approach for the calculation of capital adequacy by the Bank, the following tables which were 

prepared in the third and six month periods have not been presented as of 30 June 2021: 

 

  - CR8    - RWA flow statements of credit risk exposures under IRB (Internal Ratings Based) 

  - CCR7  - RWA flow statements of CCR exposures under the Internal Model Method (IMM) 

  - CR6    - IRB  - Credit risk exposures by portfolio and PD range 

  - CR7    - IRB  - Effect on RWA of credit derivatives used as CRM techniques 

  - CR10  - IRB  - Specialised lending and equities under the Simple Risk-Weight Method 

  - CCR4 - CCR exposures by portfolio and PD scale  

  - MR2   - RWA flow statements of market risk exposures under an IMA 

  - MR3   - IMA values for trading securities 

  - MR4   - Comparison of VaR estimates with gains/losses 
 

In addition to this, the following tables those have to be disclosed in accordance with the Communiqué were not 

included as the Bank does not have such transactions: 
 

  - CCR6   - Credit derivatives exposures 

  - CCR8   - Exposures to central counterparties 

  - SEC1    - Securitisation exposures in the banking book 

  - SEC2    - Securitisation exposures in the trading book 

  - SEC3    - Securitisation exposures in the banking book and associated regulatory capital requirements bank acting 

as originator or as sponsor 

  -SEC4    - Securitisation exposures in the banking book and associated capital requirements - bank acting as investor 
 

a. Overview of Risk Weighted Amounts 
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II. Explanations on Risk Management (continued) 

 
b. Explanations on Credit Risk  
 
1.Credit Quality of Assets 
 
 

 
 

2.Changes in stock of default loans and debt securities 

 

 

3.Credit risk mitigation techniques – Overview 
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II. Explanations on Risk Management (continued) 
 

4. Credit risk exposure and credit risk mitigation techniques: 
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II. Explanations On Risk Management (continued)  
 

5. Exposures by asset classes and risk weights 
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II. Explanations On Risk Management (continued): 
       

c. Explanations on counterparty credit risk (CCR) 

 

1. Evaluation of counterparty credit risk according to approach analysis 
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II. Explanations On Risk Management (continued) : 

 

2. Capital requirement for credit valuation adjustment (CVA) 

 
 

3. CCR exposures by risk class and risk weights – standardised approach 
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II. Explanations On Risk Management (continued)  

 

4. Collaterals for CCR 

 
 

 
d. Explanations on market risk  
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III. Explanations on Currency Risk 

Position limit on currency risk is determined in line with net general position standard ratio on foreign currency. The 

Bank does not take material foreign exchange and parity risk; transactions are usually hedged. Measurable and 

manageable risks are taken within legal limits.  

 

As of 30 June 2021, the Bank's net long position is TL 139.726 (31 December 2020: TL 260.389 net long position) 

resulting from short position on the balance sheet amounting to TL 1.842.885 (31 December 2020: TL 1.652.982 short 

position) and long position on the off-balance amounting to TL 1.982.611 (31 December 2020: TL 1.913.370 long 

position). The Bank uses “Standard Method” in legal reporting to measure the foreign exchange risk. 

 

The announced foreign exchange buying rates of the Bank at balance sheet date and the previous five working days in 

full TL are as follows:  

  

US Dollar purchase rate as at the balance sheet date    TL 8,6803  

Euro purchase rate as at the balance sheet date      TL 10,3249    

Date USD EURO 

24 June 2021 8,6139 10,2828 

25 June 2021 8,6593 10,3356 

28 June 2021 8,6772 10,3646 

29 June 2021 8,7219 10,4077 

30 June 2021 8,6803 10,3249 

 

The US Dollar and EUR buying rates are TL 8,5956 and TL 10,3694 (in full TL amounts) respectively, according to simple 
arithmetic average on June 2021. 
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III. Explanations on currency risk (continued) 

 
(*) Accruals of trading derivative financial assets amounting to TL 6.482 are not included. 
(**) Includes foreign currency indexed loans and accruals amounting to TL 44.027. 
(***) TL 20.921 of prepaid expenses are not included. 
(****) Securities issued as subordinated loan classified under “Subordinated debt instruments – Other debt instruments” in the balance sheet are included. 
(*****) TL 6.398 of accruals of derivative financial liabilities are not included. 
(******)  In the current period, foreign currency purchase commitments within the financial derivative assets amounted to TL 1.365.268 (31 December 

2020: TL 316.665), foreign currency sale commitments within the derivative financial liabilities amounted to TL 1.125.515 (31 December 2020: TL 
294.748).  

(*******) There is no effect on the net off-balance sheet position.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



FİBABANKA A.Ş.  

 

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD BETWEEN                   

1 JANUARY 2021 – 30 JUNE 2021 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL) unless otherwise stated.) 

 

46 
 

 

 
 

IV. Explanations on interest rate risk 

Interest sensitivity of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items are evaluated weekly by considering market 

developments in the Asset-Liability Committee.   

Standard method and Asset-Liability risk measurement methods are used to measure the Bank’s interest rate risk.  

Measurements by the standard method are carried out monthly by using maturity ladder. Bank applies interest rate 

shock analysis to interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities considering historic economic crisis.  Change in the net 

present value of the net assets of the Bank are monitored within the limits set by the Board of Directors. 

 
Interest rate sensitivity of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items (Based on repricing dates): 

 
(*) Includes derivative financial assets. 
(**) Non-performing loans TL 760.913 net-off related stage 3 loans expected credit losses TL 373.691 and expected losses for stage 1 TL 183.086 and for stage 2 TL 235.751 
are presented in “non-interest bearing” column (Includes factoring receivables amounting to TL 96.719). 
(***) Non-interest bearing column includes TL 117.945 investments in subsidiaries, TL 369.755 tangible assets, TL 91.804 intangible assets, TL 188.421 current and deferred 
tax asset, TL 218.582  assets held for sale, TL 508.350 other assets and TL 884 of expected credit losses on financial assets. 
(****) Securities issued as subordinated loan classified under “Subordinated debt instruments – Other debt instruments” in the balance sheet are included. 
(*****) Non-interest bearing column includes TL 2.039.913 shareholders’ equity, TL 1.017.708 other liabilities, TL 172.337 provisions and TL 49.100 tax liabilities. 
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IV. Explanations on interest rate risk (continued) 

Interest rate sensitivity of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items (Based on repricing dates): 

 

 
(*) Includes derivative financial assets.  

(**) Non-performing loans TL 619.425, net-off related stage 3 loans expected credit losses TL 388.750 and expected losses for stage 1 TL 155.743 and for stage 2 TL 
285.623 are presented in “non-interest bearing” column (Includes factoring receivables amounting to TL 105.851). 
(***) Non-interest bearing column includes TL 117.945 investments in subsidiaries, TL 359.768 tangible assets, TL 90.977 intangible assets, TL 192.964 current and deferred 
tax assets, TL 102.748 assets held for sale, TL 277.336 other assets and TL 1.941 of expected credit losses on financial assets. 
(****) Securities issued as subordinated loan classified under “Subordinated debt instruments – Other debt instruments” in the balance sheet are included. 
(*****) Non-interest bearing column includes TL 1.873.904 shareholders’ equity, TL 757.008 other liabilities, TL 205.252 provisions and TL 186.711 tax liabilities. 
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IV.  Explanations on interest rate risk (continued) 

Average interest rates applied to financial instruments 

 

 
 (*) Includes subordinates debts, which are classified under “Subordinated Debts Other Debt Instruments” in Balance Sheet, as well. 

 

  

(*) Includes subordinated debts, which are classified under “Subordinated Debts– Other Debt Instruments” in Balance Sheet, as well. 
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V. Explanations on position risk of equity securities resulted from banking book 

The Bank has no position of equity shares as of 30 June 2021 (31 December 2020: TL 9.764). 

 

VI. Explanations on liquidity risk and liquidity coverage ratio 

The Board of Directors reviews the liquidity and funding risk management policy weekly or in case of necessity. 

Liquidity risk is managed by Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) in line with risk management policy as short and 

long term liquidity risk.  

 

Liquidity Risk is managed by ALCO in order to take the necessary measures in a timely and correct manner against 

possible liquidity shortages. Treasury department manages cash inflows and outflows in line with strategies 

determined by ALCO. As deemed necessary by the ALCO members, liquidity meetings are performed for the purposes 

of close monitoring. Treasury department manages short term liquidity by adhering to the ALCO strategy and ensuring 

compliance with legal liquidity limits and stress testing.  

  

In the context of TL and foreign currencies liquidity management, the Bank monitors the cash flows weekly and action 

plan is made based on ALCO decisions. The funding balance is directly monitored and compensated by making the risk-

return-cost evaluation.  

 

For long-term liquidity "Maturity Mismatch Report" is prepared and presented to ALCO on a weekly basis. The Bank, 

resulting from the general structure of Turkish banking sector, has a liquidity gap at the 1 year maturity period. The 

Bank intends to eliminate liquidity mismatch shifting focus to long-term funding alternatives. Such decisions of the 

risk of incompatibility are taken by ALCO. The Bank  diversifies its funding sources among customer deposits, domestic 

and foreign borrowings, bills and bonds issued, taking into consideration the maturity match between its assets and 

liabilities and keeps liquid assets in order to fully meet the liquidity requirements that may emerge in case of market 

volatility.  

 

Information on the use of stress testing  

 

Department of Risk Management implements stress testing according to Liquidity and Funding Risk Policy approved by 

the Board of Directors on a weekly basis. These stress tests are based on the scenarios of the deposit outflow, funds 

obtained from bonds issued will outflow and banks limits will not be used during a 14-day period, the results are 

included in the presentation of ALCO on a weekly basis and in the Presentation of Risk Committee on a monthly basis. 

In this way, the Bank's funding structure is closely monitored and actions are taken on behalf of existing risk 

management.  

 

Alternative funding sources are identified in case of need. ALCO members are responsible for taking actions against 

short-term liquidity shocks. In the case of a crisis or if deemed necessary, ALCO summon a meeting and take necessary 

actions immediately. These action plans are approved by the Board of Directors under the ICAAP. The Bank reviews 

resources that are available in any emergency situation constantly and takes into consideration the results of the 

above-mentioned stress testing and scenario analysis by the early warning system.  

According to BRSA’s “Legislation on Measurement and Assessment of Liquidity Adequacy of the Banks”; published in 

the Official Gazette numbered 28948, dated 21 March 2014; liquidity ratio is required to be 80% for foreign currency 

assets/liabilities and 100% for total assets/liabilities in the calculation of the banks’ weekly and monthly reporting 

effective from 1 January 2019. In accordance with the BRSA Decision No. E.3520 dated 26 March 2020, due to the 

COVID-19 pandemic process, Until 31 December 2020, In order to provide flexibility for banks to meet the minimum 

rates for liquidity levels, it was decided that deposit and participation banks would be exempted from the mentioned 

ratios regarding there liabilities to meet that liquidity coverage ratios. 
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VI. Explanations on liquidity risk and liquidity coverage ratio (continued) 
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VI. Explanations on liquidity risk and liquidity coverage ratio (continued) 

 

The table below shows the lowest, highest and average Liquidity Coverage Ratio in the last 3 months of the 1 January 

– 30 June 2021 period. 

 
 Current 

Period Highest Date Lowest Date Average 

TL+FC 270,09 % 21/05/2021 134,62 % 09/04/2021 186,77 % 

FC 751,02 % 17/06/2021 163,84 % 09/04/2021 386,21 % 

Prior 
Period Highest Date Lowest Date Average 

TL+FC 205,85 % 06/10/2020 108,85 % 30/11/2020 155,08 % 

FC 517,79 % 14/12/2020 163,22 % 23/10/2020 222,74 % 

The Bank implements the calculation in accordance with the Regulation of Liquidity Coverage Ratio Calculation of 

Banks dated 21 March 2014 and numbered 28948 published in the Official Gazette. As per the related regulation high 

quality liquid assets are mainly securities portfolio, cash assets and reserve requirements. The important factors 

affecting the results of the liquidity coverage ratio are the changes in the remaining maturities of the items and 

changes in the amounts of deposits and money market transactions, the remaining maturities of which are less than 

30 days. Deposits form a significant portion of the Bank's sources of funds, on the other hand bonds issued, money 

market borrowings, funds provided from abroad are other important sources of funding.  

The Bank calculates cash outflows and transactions that are complete collateral arising from derivative transactions, 

taking into account the 24-month averages in accordance, with The Bank  implements with the Regulation of Liquidity 

Coverage Ratio Calculation of Banks published in the Official Gazette dated 21 March 2014 and numbered 28948. 
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VI. Explanations on liquidity risk and liquidity coverage ratio (continued) 
 

Presentation of assets and liabilities according to their remaining maturities: 

 

  

(*) Includes derivatives financial assets. 

(**) Non-performing loans net-off related provision for expected credit losses of stage 3 loans and expected credit losses for stage 1 and stage 2 loans are presented in “unallocated” column. 

(***) Certain assets on the balance sheet that are necessary for the banking operations but not convertible into cash in the short term such as tangible assets, stationary supplies and 

prepaid expenses are included in this column.  

(****) Securities issued as subordinated loan classified under “Subordinated debt– Other debt instruments” in the balance sheet are also included. 

(*****) Shareholders' equity and provisions are classified in other liabilities in unallocated column. 
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VI. Explanations on liquidity risk and and liquidity coverage ratio (continued) 
 

The table of leverage level calculated in accordance with the Regulation on Assessment and Calculation of Banks’ 
Leverage Level published in the Official Gazette numbered 28812 and dated 5/11/2013 shown below. 

As of 30 June 2021, Bank’s unconsolidated leverage ratio calculated in accordance with the “Regulation on Assessment 
and Calculation of Banks’ Leverage Level” is 6,14%. Minimum leverage ratio has to be 3% according to the regulation. 
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SECTION FIVE 
 
EXPLANATIONS AND NOTES ON THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

I. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets 

1. Information on cash and balances with the Central Bank of Turkey 

 

1.1 Information related to the account of the Central Bank of Turkey 

 

According to the communiqué No: 2005/1 on “Reserve Deposits” of CBRT, banks operating in Turkey are required to 

keep reserve deposit at the rates varying from 3%-8% (31 December 2020: 1%-6%) for TL liabilities and at the rates 

varying from 5%-21% (31 December 2020: 5%-21%) for FC liabilities, especially USD and EUR, depending on maturities 

of liabilities.  
 

2. Information on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

2.1 Information on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss given as collateral or blocked 

 

Trading securities given as collateral represent those collaterals given to the Central Bank of Turkey, and Istanbul 

Clearing and Custody Bank (Takasbank) for interbank money market, foreign exchange market and other transactions, 

as of balance sheets dates.  

As of 30 June 2021, the amount of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss not given as collateral or not 

blocked is TL 57.113 (31 December 2020: TL 121.342).  

When fair value hedge accounting terminated, the fair value amount on the hedged financial instruments are reflected 

into the statement of profit or loss by amortization during the life time of the hedged financial instruments. 

Loans recognized at fair value through profit or loss 

As of 30 June 2021, there are no loans recognized at fair value through profit or loss (31 December 2020: None). 
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I. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued) 

2.2 Information on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss subject to repurchase agreements 
 
  None. 

2.3 Positive differences relating to derivative financial assets  

 

3. Information on Banks 

3.1 Information on banks 

 

4. Information on Financial Assets Valued at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income 

Not prepared in compliance with the Article 25 of the communique “Financial Statements and Related Disclosures and 

Footnotes to be Announced to Public by Banks”. 

 

4.1 Financial assets valued at fair value through other comprehensive income subject to repurchase agreements 
and provided as collateral blocked 
 

 

As of 30 June 2021, the amount of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income not given as 

collateral or not blocked is TL 139.280 (31 December 2020: TL 307.053). 
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I. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued) 

4.2 Details of financial assets valued at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 
 

5. Information on Loans 

 5.1 Information on all types of loans and advances given to shareholders and employees of the Bank  

 

5.2 Information on Standard Loans, Loans Under Close Monitoring and Loans Under Close Monitoring That Are 
Restructured 
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I. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued) 

5.2 Information on Loans under Close Monitoring that are restructured with Standard Loans and Close Monitoring 
Loans (continued) 

The overdue analysis of close monitoring loans 

 

Maturity analysis of cash loans  
 

Not prepared in compliance with the Article 25 of the communique “Financial Statements and Related Disclosures and 

Footnotes to be Announced to Public by Banks”. 

   



FİBABANKA A.Ş.  

 

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD BETWEEN                   

1 JANUARY 2021 – 30 JUNE 2021 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL) unless otherwise stated.) 

 

58 
 

 

 

I. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued) 
 

5.3 Information on consumer loans, individuals credit cards and credit cards given to personnel  

 

 

  



FİBABANKA A.Ş.  

 

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD BETWEEN                   

1 JANUARY 2021 – 30 JUNE 2021 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL) unless otherwise stated.) 

 

59 
 

 

 

I. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued) 

5.4 Information on commercial loans with installments and corporate credit cards 

 

5.5 Allocation of loans by customers 

 

5.6 Allocation of Domestic and Foreign Loans 
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I. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued) 

5.7 Loans granted to subsidiaries and associates 

The Bank does not have any loans granted to subsidiaries and associates as of 30 June 2021 (31 December 2020: None).  

 

5.8 Provisions provided against loans (third stage) 

 

5.9 Information on non-performing loans (Net) 

5.9.1 Information on loans and other receivables included in non-performing loans which are restructured or 
rescheduled 

 

5.9.2  Movement on non-performing loans 
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I. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued) 

 
5.9.3 Information on non-performing loans and other receivables in foreign currencies 

 

  5.9.4 Information regarding gross and net amounts of non-performing loans with respect to debtor groups 

5.10 Information on interest accruals, valuation differences and related provisions calculated for non-performing  
loans by the banks which reserves provision according to TFRS 9  
 
The Bank does not calculate interest accruals and rediscount for non-performing loans. 

5.11 Explanations about write-off policy 
 

 

In the event that the conditions stated in the law related to the unworthiness of the receivable arise, whole provisions 
are set aside for all of these loans and the loans are written off from the assets by the board decision. 
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I. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued) 

6. Information on financial assets measured at amortized cost 

6.1 Information on securities subject to repurchase agreement and given as collateral or blocked 

 

6.2 Information on government securities in financial assets measured at amortized cost

 

6.3 Information on financial assets measured at amortized cost 

 

6.4 Information on the movement of financial assets measured at amortized cost during the period 
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I.  Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued) 

7. Information on associates 

The Bank has no investment in an associate as of 30 June 2021 (31 December 2020: None). 

8. Information on subsidiaries 

The Bank has TL 117.945 investment in subsidiaries as of 30 June 2021 (31 December 2020: TL 117.945). 

Non financial subsidiaries   

The Bank has TL 112.500 investment in a non-financial subsidiary as of 30 June 2021 (31 December 2020: TL 112.500). 

 

Finberg Araştırma Geliştirme Danışmanlık Yatırım Hizmetleri A.Ş., was established with the purpose of providing 
entrepreneurship, creation of new business fields and technologies, investment in financial technology companies, 
mobile payment, income expenditure follow-up and money transfer consultancy services. 

 

Financial subsidiaries  

The Bank has TL 5.445 investment in a financial subsidiary as of 30 June 2021 (31 December 2020: TL 5.445).  

 
Fiba Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. was established on 26 September 2013 with 99% share of Fibabanka A.Ş. 

The financial information about Fiba Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. as of 30 June 2021 is given below: 
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I. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued) 

8. Information on subsidiaries (continued) 

 

Sectoral information on consolidated financial subsidiaries and the related carrying 

 

Valuation of investments made in subsidiaries within the scope of consolidation 

  Current Period  Prior Period 

Valuation with cost value  5.445  5.445 

Valuation with fair value  --  -- 
 

Quoted consolidated investments in subsidiaries  

None. 

9. Information on entities under common control 

The Bank does not have investments in entities under common control as of 30 June 2021. 

10. Information on lease receivables 

The Bank does not have lease receivables as of 30 June 2021. 

11. Information on derivative financial assets held for hedging purposes 

As of 30 June 2021, The Bank has no hedging derivative financial assets (31 December 2020: None). 
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I. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued) 

12. Information on tangible assets  
 

Not prepared in compliance with the Article 25 of the communique “Financial Statements and Related Disclosures and 

Footnotes to be Announced to Public by Banks”. 

13. Information on intangible assets  

Not prepared in compliance with the Article 25 of the communique “Financial Statements and Related Disclosures and 
Footnotes to be Announced to Public by Banks”. 
 

 

14. Information on investment properties  

None. 

15. Information on deferred tax asset 

15.1 Amount of deferred tax asset recognized in the balance sheet in respect of deductible temporary differences, 
unused tax losses and unused tax credits 

As of 30 June 2021, the deferred tax asset amounting to TL 186.415 is calculated by netting of deductible temporary 

differences and taxable temporary differences (31 December 2020: TL 191.700 deferred tax asset).  

 

Deferred tax asset consists of deferred tax asset and liability items recognized on temporary differences between the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases which is used in 

the computation of taxable profit. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented as net in the accompanying 

financial statements. 

 

The movement of the current year and prior year deferred tax assets is shown below: 
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II. Explanations and disclosure related to the assets (continued ) 

15. Information on deferred tax asset (continued) 

15.2 Amount and expiry date of deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, unused tax credits for which 
no deferred tax asset is recognized in prior periods in the balance sheet 

None (31 December 2020: None). 

15.3 Deferred tax asset resulting from the cancellation of the provision for impairment losses related to the deferred 
taxes 

None. 

16. Information on assets held for sale and non-current assets related to discontinued operations 

As of 30 June 2021, the Bank has TL 218.582 assets held for sale (31 December 2020: TL 102.748). 

 

17. Information on other assets 

Other assets do not exceed 10% of total assets excluding the off-balance sheet items. 

17.1 Information on prepaid expenses, tax and similar items 

As of 30 June 2021, total prepaid expenses are TL 50.396 (31 December 2020: TL 41.579). 
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II. Explanations and disclosures related to liabilities 

1. Information on deposits  

1.1 Information on maturity structure of deposits 
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II. Explanations and disclosures related to liabilities (continued) 

1.2  Information on saving deposits under the guarantee of saving deposit insurance and exceeding the limit of 
saving deposit insurance 

 

1.3 Saving deposits in Turkey are not covered by any insurance in any other countries since the Bank’s headquarter 
is not located abroad. 

1.4   Saving deposits that are not under the guarantee of deposit insurance fund 

 

2. Information on derivative financial liabilities held for trading 

2.1 Information on negative differences relating to derivative financial liabilities held for trading 

           
 

3. Information on banks and other financial institutions  

3.1  Information on banks and other financial institutions 
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II. Explanations and disclosures related to liabilities (continued) 
 

3.2 Maturity analysis of borrowing 

 

3.3 Additional explanation related to the concentrations of the Bank’s major liabilities 

In the scope of normal banking operations, the Bank funds itself through the funds provided in the form of deposits, 
money market funds, bank borrowings and bond issuance. 

 

4. Information related with issued instruments 

 

5. Other Liabilities 

Other liabilities of balance sheet do not exceed 10% of the balance sheet total excluding the off-balance 

sheet items.  

 
6. Obligations under financial lease 

 
With the “TFRS 16 Leases” standard valid from 1 January 2019, the difference between operating leases and finance 
leases has been eliminated and the lease transactions have been expressed under the “Lease Payables” as liability by 
lessees.  
 

 

 
 

6.1  Additional explanations related to the changes in agreements and the additional liabilities brought by these changes 
 

None. 
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II. Explanations and disclosures related to liabilities (continued) 
 
7. Information on derivative financial liabilities for hedging purposes 

 
As of 30 June 2021, there are no derivative financial liabilities for hedging purposes (31 December 2020: None). 
 

8. Information on provisions 

8.1 Foreign exchange losses on the foreign currency indexed loans 
 

The foreign exchange losses on foreign currency indexed loans are netted off from the loans on the balance sheet. As 

of 30 June 2021, there is no provision of foreign exchange losses on the foreign currency indexed loans. (31 December 

2020: None) 

 
8.2 The specific provisions provided for unindemnified non cash loan 

As of 30 June 2021, the specific provision provided for unindemnified non cash loans is TL 3.139 (31 December 2020: 
TL 4.566). 

8.3 Explanation on other provisions 

8.3.1 Provisions for possible losses  

 

8.3.2 The breakdown of the subsidiary accounts if other provisions exceed 10% of the grand total provisions 

None. 

8.3.3 Explanations on reserves for employee benefits 

As of 30 June 2021, reserves for employee benefits amounting to TL 35.749 (31 December 2020: TL 36.894) comprise 
of TL 22.810 reserve for employee termination benefits (31 December 2020: TL 19.659), TL 9.161 unused vacation pay 
liability (31 December 2020: TL 5.689) and TL 3.778 personnel bonus accrual (31 December 2020: TL 11.546). 
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II. Explanations and disclosures related to liabilities (continued) 

9. Explanations on Tax Liability 

9.1 Explanations on current tax liability 

9.1.1  Explanations on tax provision 

As of 30 June 2021, the Bank’s current tax liability is TL 49.100 (31 December 2020: TL 186.711). 

9.1.2 Information on taxes payable 

 

9.1.3 Information on premium 

  

 
9.2 Explanations on deferred tax liabilities 

There are no deferred tax liabilities after netting of deferred tax assets (31 December 2020: None). 

10. Information on liabilities regarding assets held for sale and discounted operations 

None (31 December 2020: None). 
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II. Explanations and disclosures related to liabilities (continued) 

11. Explanations on subordinated loans 

 
(*) Related debt instrument is shown in “Other capital Reserves” account. 

12. Information on shareholders’ equity 

12.1 Paid in capital 

 

12.2 Paid-in capital amount, explanation as to whether the registered share capital system is applied at the bank; 
if so the amount of registered share capital ceiling:  

Registered share capital system is not applied. 

12.3 Information on share capital increases and their sources; other information on increased capital shares in 
current period 

None. 

12.4 Information on share capital increases from revaluation funds: 

None. 

12.5 Information on capital commitments the purpose and the sources until the end of the fiscal year and the 
subsequent interim period: 

The capital is totally paid in and there are no capital commitments. 

12.6 Indicators of the Bank’s income, profitability and liquidity for the prior periods and possible effects of these 
future assumptions due to the uncertainty of these indicators on the Bank’s equity: 

None. 

12.7 Information on privileges given to stocks representing the capital 

The Bank does not have any preferred shares. 
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II. Explanations and disclosures related to liabilities (continued) 
 
12. Information on shareholders’ equity (continued) 

12.8 Common stock issue premiums, shares and equity instruments 

Number of shares issued with premiums and the related share premiums are presented below. 

 

12.9 Information on marketable securities value increase fund 

 

12.10 Information on other capital reserves 

 

The Bank has issued a TL-denominated debt instrument on 20 March 2019 with nominal amount of TL 100.000 with a 

floating interest rate, which fulfills the conditions of 7th section-2nd paragraph of BRSA’s "Regulation on Equities of 

Banks", has equity characteristics and will be added to Tier I capital calculations. The debt instrument under “Other 

Capital Reserves” account and interest expense under “Prior Periods Profit or Loss” accocunt. 

12.11 Information on revaluation reserve  

None. 

12.12 Bonus shares of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 

None. 

12.13 Information on legal reserves 

 

12.14 Information on extraordinary reserves 
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   III. Explanations and disclosures related to off-balance sheet contingencies and commitments 

  1. Information on off balance sheet commitments 

1.1 Nature and amount of irrevocable loan commitments 

 

1.2 Possible losses and commitments related to off balance sheet items, including the ones listed below 

1.2.1 Non-cash loans including guarantees, acceptances, financial guarantee and other letters of credits 

 

The Bank has set aside TL 11.549 of expected credit loss allowance for non-cash loans (31 December 2020: TL 9.788). 
 

1.2.2 Revocable, irrevocable guarantees and other similar commitments and contingencies 

 

2. Total amount of non-cash loans 
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III. Explanations and disclosures related to off-balance sheet contingencies and commitments (continued) 
 
3. Information on sectoral risk concentration of non cash loans 

 

Not prepared in compliance with the Article 25 of the communique “Financial Statements and Related Disclosures and 

Footnotes to be Announced to Public by Banks”. 

4. Information on the first and second group of non-cash loans 

Not prepared in compliance with the Article 25 of the communique “Financial Statements and Related Disclosures 

and Footnotes to be Announced to Public by Banks”. 

5. Information related to derivative financial instruments 

Not prepared in compliance with the Article 25 of the communique “Financial Statements and Related Disclosures 

and Footnotes to be Announced to Public by Banks”. 

6. Information on the first and second group of non cash loans 

None. 

7. Information related to derivative financial instruments 

The bank recognised a provision of TL 6.239 for the legal cases pending against the Bank where the cash out flows 

are probable (31 December 2020: TL 6.198). 

8.    Custodian and Intermediary services 

The Bank provides trading and safe keeping services in the name and account of third parties. Such transactions are 

presented in off-balance statements. 
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IV. Explanations and disclosures related to the statement of profit or loss 

1. Interest income 

1.1 Information on interest on loans   
 

 
 

1.2 Information on interest income received from banks 
 

 
 

1.3 Interest received from marketable securities portfolio  
 

  

1.4 Information on interest income received from associates and subsidiaries  

None (30 June 2020: None). 
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IV. Explanations and disclosures related to the statement of profit or loss (continued) 

2. Interest expense 

2.1 Information on interest on funds borrowed  

 

 
2.2 Information on interest expenses to associates and subsidiaries  

Total interest expense given to associates and subsidiaries is TL 472 (1 January – 30 June 2020: TL 272). 

2.3 Information on interest expenses to securities issued  

 

2.4  Information on maturity structure of interest expenses paid for deposits 

 

3. Information on dividend income 

None (30 June 2020: None). 
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IV. Explanations and disclosures related to the statement of profit or loss (continued) 

 

4. Information on net trading income / loss 

 

5. Information on other operating income 

Other operating income mainly consists of provision reversals (TL 35.500 free provision reversal has been realized), 

profit from sale of assets, commissions on cheques and notes and costs recharged. 

 

6. Provisions for Expected Losses 

 

(*) For the period ended 30 June 2021, no expenses for possible losses (30 June 2020: TL 122.500). 
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IV. Explanations and disclosures related to the statement of profit or loss (continued) 

7. Information related to other operational expenses 

 

    

8. Information on profit/loss before tax from continued and discontinued operations 

9. Explanations on tax provision for resumed operations and discontinued operations 

Not prepared in compliance with the Article 25 of the communique “Financial Statements and Related Disclosures and 

Footnotes to be Announced to Public by Banks”. 

9.1 Current period taxation income or expense and deferred tax income or expense 

For the period ended 30 June 2021, the Bank provided current tax expense of TL 2.521 in the statement of profit or 
loss for the 6 months period (1 January – 30 June 2020: TL 74.029 expense). 

For the period ended 30 June 2021, the Bank provided the deferred tax expense of TL 3.894 in the statement of profit 
or loss for 6 months period (1 January – 30 June 2020: TL 36.861 deferred tax income). 

10. Information on profit/loss from continued and discontinued operations 

Not prepared in compliance with the Article 25 of the communique “Financial Statements and Related Disclosures and 

Footnotes to be Announced to Public by Banks”. 

11. Information on net profit/loss for the period 

11.1 The nature and amount of certain income and expense items from ordinary operations is disclosed if the 
disclosure for nature, amount and repetition rate of such items is required for the complete understanding of 
the Bank's performance for the period 

In the current and prior periods, the Bank's income from ordinary banking transactions is interest income from loans 

and marketable securities and other banking service income. Main expenses are interest expense on deposits and 

similar debt items which are funding resources of loans and marketable securities.  
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IV. Explanations and disclosures related to the statement of profit or loss (continued) 

11.2 Changes in estimations made by the Bank with respect to the financial statement items do not have a material 
effect on profit/loss 

11.3 As there is no minority share in shareholders’ equity, there is no profit or loss attributable to the minority 
shares 

12. If “other” lines of the statement of profit or loss exceeds 10% of the period profit/loss, information on 
components making up at least 20% of “other” items  

In the current period, “other” items recognised in “fees and commissions received” majorly comprised of commissions 
such as limit allocation and revision commissions, valuation commissions, insurance commissions, contracted merchant 
commissions, credit card commissions and account maintenance fees. 
 

In the current period, “other” items recognised in “fees and commissions paid” majorly comprised of commissions to 
correspondent banks, credit card commissions and commissions on issuance of securities. 
 

V. Explanations and disclosures on the risk group of the Bank 
 
1.  Information on the volume of transactions with the Bank’s risk group, lending and deposits outstanding at  

Period end and income and expenses in the current period 
 

1.1 Information on the volume of transactions with the Bank’s risk group 

Current Period 

 

 

Prior Period 
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V. Explanations and disclosures on the risk group of the Bank (continued) 
 

1.2 Information on deposits of the Bank’s risk group 

 

 

1.3  Information on funds obtained from the Bank’s risk group 

As of 30 June 2021, there are no funds other than deposit obtained from Bank’s risk group (31 December 2020: None). 
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V. Explanations and disclosures on the risk group of the Bank (continued) 

1.4 Information on forward and option agreements and similar agreements made with Bank’s risk group 

 

2.  Information on transactions with the Bank’s risk group 

2.1 Relations with entities in the risk group of / or controlled by the Bank regardless of the nature of relationship 
among the parties 

The terms of related party transactions are equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions only if such 

terms can be substantiated regarding the limits exposed by the Banking Act. Adopted Bank policy is that assets and 

liabilities will not be dominated by the risk group and the balances with the risk group will have a reasonable share in 

the total balance sheet. 

2.2 In addition to the structure of the relationship, type of transaction, amount, and share in total transaction 
volume, amount of significant items, and share in all items, pricing policy and other 

As of 30 June 2021, the ratio of the loans and other receivables used by the entities of risk group to total loans and 

receivables is 2,84% (31 December 2020: 3,38%) and the ratio of the deposits of entities of risk group to total deposits 

is 1,06% (31 December 2020: 3,02%). There are no funds obtained from entities of risk group (31 December 2020: 

None). 

 

In the current period, benefits such as salaries and bonuses, provided to the key management are TL 17.020 (1 January 

– 30 June 2020: TL 12.026).  

2.3 Total of similar type of transactions together, unless a separate disclosure is required to present the effect of 
the transactions on financial statements 

None. 

2.4 Transactions accounted for under equity method 

None.  

2.5 Explanations on purchase and sale of real estate and other assets, sales and purchases of services, agency 
contracts, finance lease agreements, transfer of data obtained from research and development, licensing 
agreements, financing (including loans and cash and in-kind capital support), guarantees and promissory notes, 
and management contracts 

None.  
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VI. Explanations on the Bank’s domestic, foreign, off-shore branches or investments in associates and foreign 
representative offices 

1. Information related to the Bank’s domestic and foreign branch and representatives 

 

 
 VII. Events after balance sheet date 

None. 

 
VIII. Other disclosures on activities of the Bank 

Summary information of Bank’s risk ratings by international rating agencies: 
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SECTION SIX 

DISCLOSURES ON REVIEW REPORT 
 

I. Disclosures on limited review report  
 
As of 30 June 2021,the unconsolidated financial statements of the Bank, have been reviewed by KPMG Bağımsız 

Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik AŞ (KPMG International Cooperative) and a review report is presented 

before the accompanying financial statements. 

 
II. Disclosures and footnotes prepared by independent auditors 

 
None. 
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SECTION SEVEN 
 

I. Interim Report Regarding Evaluations of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the General Manager 
 

1. Brief History of Fibabanka A.Ş. and its Shareholder Structure 
 
On 21 December 2001, Share Transfer Agreement was signed with Novabank S.A. for the sale of all shares of Sitebank 

A.Ş. under the control of SDIF and the sale transaction was approved by the decision of Banking Regulation and 

Supervision Agency No: 596 on 16 January 2002. 

In the General Assembly held on 4 March 2003, the name of Sitebank A.Ş. was amended as BankEuropa Bankası A.Ş. 

In the Extraordinary General Assembly held on 28 November 2006, the name of Bank Europa Bankası A.Ş. was amended 

as Millennium Bank A.Ş. On 10 February 2010, Banco Comercial Portugues S.A. and Credit Europe Bank N.V., which is 

an affiliate of Fiba Group, signed a share purchase agreement to transfer 95% of the Parent Bank’s shares to Credit 

Europe Bank N.V. and the legal approval process has been completed as of 27 December 2010. In the Extraordinary 

General Assembly held on 25 April 2011 the name of Millennium Bank A.Ş. has been amended as Fibabanka A.Ş. (“the 

Bank”). 

Fiba Holding A.Ş. became the ultimate parent of the Bank after acquiring 97,6% of the shares from Credit Europe Bank 

N.V. on 3 December 2012 and 2,4% of the shares from Banco Comercial Portugues S.A. on 7 December 2012. 

In 2013, capital was increased in the total amount of TL 123.350 to TL 550.000, provided from inflation adjustment 

difference of TL 17,415, from the profit from the sale of real estate of TL 9.502 and cash from Fiba Holding of TL 

96.432 to reach TL 550.000.  

On 31 March 2015, according to BOD’s decision as of 5 March 2015, share capital was increased from TL 550.000 to TL 

678.860 while TL 127.045 of the increase was provided by the subordinated loan granted by Fiba Holding A.Ş. which 

had been approved to be converted to capital and TL 1.815 of total capital was paid in cash by the other shareholders. 

Capital increase was recognised in financial statements following the completion of the legal procedures on 7 May 

2015.  

According to the Subscription Agreement signed on the date of 23 October 2015, by and between the Bank and 

International Finance Corporation ("IFC") and European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("EBRD"), IFC and 

EBRD have separately subscribed an amount of including the share premium of TL 121.017 (TL 84.328 of said amount 

is the share capital; TL 36.689 is the share premium), which makes a total amount of TL 242.034 in the share capital 

of the Bank by way of capital increase. 

The Bank’s TL 847.515 paid capital was increased by TL 93.646 on 7 September 2016 all by TurkFinance B.V. to  TL 

941.161. In addition, TL 55.299 recorded under the equity as share premium.  

As of 30 June 2021, the Bank’s paid-in capital is TL 941.161. 

 

As of 30 June 2021, The Bank’s Shareholder Structure: 
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I. Interim Report Regarding Evaluations of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the General Manager 

(continued) 
 
2.   Chairman and the Members of the Board of Directors, Statutory Auditors, General Manager  and Assistant General 

Managers, Members of the Audit , and  Managers of the Departments within the scope of Internal Systems 
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I. Interim Report Regarding Evaluations of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the General Manager 

(continued) 
 

3. Brief Financial Information Relating to Results of Activities During the Period 
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I. Interim Report Regarding Evaluations of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the General Manager 
(continued 

 

4.  Evaluations of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the General Manager Regarding the Interim Period 
 

 

Affecting the entire world since the beginning of 2020, the coronavirus pandemic was a critical test for Fibabanka 

in terms of demonstrating the extent to which it values its stakeholders. Thanks to the investments we have made 

in advanced technology over a long period, we were able to take quick actions and adopt the remote working 

model for our headquarters employees. Branch personnel continued to serve the Bank’s customers by working from 

home and from branch locations alternately. Fibabanka has taken various measures to ensure hygiene and social 

distance in order to safeguard the health of Bank customers and employees. In addition, we conducted our business 

operations without compromising on service quality by adjusting our working hours and directing customers to 

digital channels, such as Fibabanka Mobile and Internet Banking channels. I would like to express my gratitude to 

all our employees who have shown great effort and commitment during this difficult but necessary adaptation 

process.  

 

Since March 2020, Fibabanka has performed Net Promoter Score (NPS) measurements for its digital channel 

customers. This effort has allowed us to strengthen the bond between the Bank and our customers. Thanks to the 

simultaneous experience measurements, we quickly achieved results in terms of further boosting customer 

satisfaction. 

 

From day one, Fibabanka has conducted its business operations in light of its “big data” focused digital 

transformation journey. Thanks to our advanced technology and big data focused investments, the Bank broadened 

its customer base and provided even better customer service in 2020. As a result of this; 

 

As of 30 June 2021, Fibabanka net loans portfolio is TL 20,0 billion.  

 
The Bank has funded its loan portfolio mainly by customer deposits also in 2021. In this period, customer deposits 

amounting to TL 20,2 billion constitutes 66% of total liabilities.  

 

In the second quarter of 2021, by taking care of asset quality, it is aimed to continue having an efficient loan 

portfolio and higher non-interest income together with higher number of customers. In addition, by keeping the 

operating expenses under control, the Bank's profit has been achieved a steady growth. As a result the Bank’s net 

profit in the six months of 2021 is TL 173,3 million as per unconsolidated financial statements and TL 175,1 million 

as per consolidated financial statements. As an indicator of Bank’s strong capital structure, unconsolidated capital 

adequacy ratio is 20,38%, consolidated capital adequacy ratio is 20,43% as of 30 June 2021. 

 

Besides its financial targets, the Bank, with 49 branches and 1.728 employees, has also non-financial targets like 

digitalization and inclusion aiming to offer increasingly new innovations through its alternative distribution 

channels like internet and mobile banking.  

 

In 2021, the Bank will continue its agile, efficient and customer focused growth by keeping its prudent and 

deliberate attitude against asset quality. In this sense, with the motto “agile thinking, agile solutions” and a 

personal attention to the customers, our main goals for the future are to increase our service quality by keeping 

our innovating and enterprising approach in all areas and to increase customer loyalty by being by side in all needs 

of our customers.  

 

On this journey we went out with the vision of “Being the most loved Bank of Turkey”, we would like to thank our 

valued employees who work with dedication in our Bank and are the main architect of our business also in 2021, 

our valued partners, and our valued customers who have contributed to the strength of our Bank. 

 

Best regards, 
 

 

Hüsnü Mustafa Özyeğin      Ömer Mert 

Chairman of the Board of Directors    General Manager and Member of Board of Directors 
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I. Interim Report Regarding Evaluations of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the General Manager 
(continued) 

 

5.  Evaluations Relating to the Bank’s Financial Situation 
                                     
As of 30 June 2021, the Bank serves with 49 domestic branches and 1.728 employees.  

 

Total assets of Fibabanka, as of the second quarter of 2021 realised as TL 30.424.874 on unconsolidated basis. 

According to unconsolidated financial statements, the net loan volume, which was TL 18.796.220 at the end of 

2020, has been realised as TL 19.999.934 as of the second quarter of the year. Share of the loans in total assets 

has been realised as 66%. 

Credit worthiness of loans and other receivables are monitored continuously in accordance with related laws and 

regulations. For new credits disbursed, the Bank complies with the limits determined under the Banking Laws and 

Regulations. Collaterals are taken for the loans disbursed in order to mitigate risk. According to unconsolidated 

financial statements, as of the second quarter of 2021, NPLs have been realised as TL 760.913 and provisions 

provided in the amount of TL 373.691. 

According to unconsolidated financial statements, financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 

have been realised as TL 57.205, financial assets measured at fair value though other comprehensive income have 

been realised as TL 774.839 and financial assets measured at amortized cost have been realised as TL 1.812.107. 

Ratio of total securities portfolio to total assets is 9%. 

As of 30 June 2021, the unconsolidated deposit volume has been realised as TL 21.018.342. 

According to the unconsolidated financial statements, net profit is TL 173.338 in the six months period of 2021. 

As of 30 June 2021, the Bank’s unconsolidated capital adequacy ratio is 20,38%. 

 
 
 
 
 
 


